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Preface

Scope

This publication provides a set of sample financial
statements of a fictitious group of companies. GAAP
Singapore Ltd is a company incorporated in Singapore
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-
ST"). The names of people and entities included in this
publication are fictitious. Any resemblance to a person
or entity is purely coincidental.

GAAP Singapore Ltd is assumed to have presented

its financial statements in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS") for a number of
years.

Effective date

The illustrative financial statements include the
disclosures required by the Singapore Companies Act,
SGX-ST Listing Manual, and FRSs and INT FRSs that are
issued at the date of publication (October 31, 2013).

lllustrative in nature

The sample disclosures in this set of illustrative financial
statements should not be considered to be the only
acceptable form of presentation. The form and content
of each reporting entity's financial statements are the
responsibility of the entity's directors and management,
and other forms of presentation which are equally
acceptable may be preferred and adopted, provided
they include the specific disclosures prescribed in the
Singapore Companies Act, SGX-ST Listing Manual, and
FRSs and INT FRSs.

For the purposes of presenting the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, and statement of
cash flows, the various alternatives allowed under FRSs
for those statements have been illustrated. Preparers of
financial statements should select the alternatives most
appropriate to their circumstances.

The illustrative financial statements contain general
information and are not intended to be a substitute
for reading the legislation or accounting standards
themselves, or for professional judgement as to
adequacy of disclosures and fairness of presentation.
They do not encompass all possible disclosures
required by the Singapore Companies Act, SGX-ST
Listing Manual, and FRSs and INT FRSs. Depending on
the circumstances, further specific information may

be required in order to ensure fair presentation and
compliance with laws and accounting standards and
stock exchange regulations in Singapore.

Guidance notes

Direct references to the source of disclosure
requirements are included in the reference column

on each page of the illustrative financial statements.
Guidance notes are provided where additional matters
may need to be considered in relation to a particular
disclosure. These notes are inserted within the relevant
section or note.

The illustrative financial statements are prepared by

the Technical Department of Deloitte & Touche LLP in
Singapore ("Deloitte Singapore") for the use of clients
and staff and are written in general terms. Accordingly,
we recommend that readers seek appropriate
professional advice regarding the application of its
contents to their specific situations and circumstances.
The illustrative financial statements should not be relied
on as a substitute for such professional advice. Partners
and professional staff of Deloitte Singapore would

be pleased to advise you. While all reasonable care

has been taken in the preparation of these illustrative
financial statements, Deloitte Singapore accepts no
responsibility for any errors it might contain, whether
caused by negligence or otherwise, or for any loss,
howsoever caused, incurred by any person as a result of
relying on it.

Abbreviations used

References are made in this publication to the Singapore
Companies Act, Singapore accounting pronouncements,
guidelines and SGX-ST listing rules that require a
particular disclosure or accounting treatment. The
abbreviations used to identify the source of authority are
as follows:

Alt Alternative

CA Singapore Companies Act

CCG Code of Corporate Governance

FRS Singapore Financial Reporting Standards

INT FRS Interpretation of Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards

LM Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
(SGX-ST) Listing Manual

RAP Recommended Accounting Practice

SSA Singapore Standards on Auditing



Summary of key changes from the 2012
version of the Illustrative Financial Statements

This section covers:

+ An overview of new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs
that are mandatorily effective for the year ending
December 31, 2013; and

« An overview of new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs
that are not yet mandatorily effective but allow early
application for the year ending December 31, 2013.

For this purpose, the discussion below reflects a cut-off
date of October 31, 2013. The potential impact of the
application of any new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs
issued after October 31, 2013 but before the financial
statements are issued should also be considered and
disclosed.

a) Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to FRS 1 introduce new terminology
for the statement of comprehensive income and income
statement, whose use is not mandatory. Under the
amendments to FRS 1, a statement of comprehensive
income is renamed as a statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and an income statement
is renamed as a statement of profit or loss.

The amendments to FRS 1 retain the option to present
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either
a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to FRS 1

require additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into the following
two categories:

« items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss (e.g. revaluation surplus on property,
plant and equipment under FRS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment, and revaluation surplus on intangible
assets under FRS 38 Intangible Assets); and

- items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss when specific conditions are met (e.g. fair
value changes on available-for-sale investments
under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, fair value changes from hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges, and reclassification
of foreign exchange differences arising from
translating foreign operations).

The amendments to FRS 1 require an entity to
disclose income tax relating to each component of
other comprehensive income — the amendments

do not change the option to present items of other
comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after July 1, 2012 and require
retrospective application.

A sample disclosure of an entity’s adoption of the new
requirements can be found in Note 2 of the below
illustrative financial statements — Adoption of New and
Revised Standards.

b) Amendments to FRS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendments to FRS 19 change the accounting

for defined benefit plans and termination benefits.

The most significant change relates to the accounting
for changes in defined benefit obligations and plan
assets. The amendments require the recognition of
changes in defined benefit obligations and in fair value
of plan assets when they occur, and hence eliminate
the ‘corridor approach’ permitted under the previous
version of FRS 19 and accelerate the recognition of
past service costs. The amendments require all actuarial
gains and losses to be recognised immediately through
other comprehensive income in order for the net
pension asset or liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position to reflect the full value of
the plan deficit or surplus.

The amendments to FRS 19 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and
require retrospective application with certain exceptions.

A sample disclosure of an entity’s adoption of the new
requirements can be found in the guidance note under
Note 2 of the below illustrative financial statements —
Adoption of New and Revised Standards.



c) Amendments FRS 107 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

The amendments to FRS 107 require entities to

disclose information about rights of set-off and related
arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements)
for financial instruments under an enforceable master
netting agreement or similar arrangement. The
amendments to FRS 107 are required for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures
should be provided retrospectively for all comparative
periods.

A sample disclosure of an entity’s adoption of the new
requirements can be found in Note 2 of the below
illustrative financial statements — Adoption of New and
Revised Standards.

d) FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

FRS 113 establishes a single source of guidance
for fair value measurements and disclosures about
fair value measurements. FRS 113 does not change
the requirements regarding which items should be
measured or disclosed at fair value.

The scope of FRS 113 is broad; it applies to both
financial instrument items and non-financial assets
for which other FRSs require or permit fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements, except in specified circumstances.

FRS 113 gives a new definition of fair value for financial
reporting purposes. Fair value under FRS 113 is defined
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in
the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market condition

(i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.

FRS 113 is effective for annual periods beginning

on or after January 1, 2013 and should be applied
prospectively as of the beginning of the annual period in
which it is initially applied.

The application of FRS 113 may result in changes in
how entities determine fair values for financial reporting
purposes. Examples of potential adjustments are:

+ Investment properties measured using the fair value
model — FRS 113 requires entities to consider the
‘highest and best use' in determining the fair value of
a non-financial asset. There was no such requirement
in FRS 40 before the issuance of FRS 113; and
Financial assets and financial liabilities measured

at fair value under FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement — FRS 113 does not
mandate the use of bid/ask price (which was required
by FRS 39).

In addition, FRS 113 requires extensive disclosures about
fair value measurements. For example, quantitative and
qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value
hierarchy previously required for financial instruments
only under FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
are extended by FRS 113 to cover all assets and liabilities
within its scope. An entity, having applied FRS 113 for
the first time does not need to make the disclosures set
out in FRS 113 in comparative information provided for
periods before initial application.

A sample disclosure of an entity’s adoption of the new
requirements can be found in Note 2 of the below
illustrative financial statements — Adoption of New and
Revised Standards.



e) 2012 Annual Improvements to FRS

The annual improvements include the following key changes:

FRS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements

Clarification of
the requirements
for comparative
information

An entity may present comparative information in addition to the minimum comparative
financial statements required by FRSs, as long as that information is prepared in
accordance with FRSs. This comparative information may consist of one or more primary
statements, but need not comprise a complete set of financial statements. When

this is the case, the entity shall present related note information for those additional
statements.

For example, an entity may present a third statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (thereby presenting the current period, the preceding period

and one additional comparative period). However, the entity is not required to present a
third statement of financial position, a third statement of cash flows or a third statement
of changes in equity (i.e. an additional financial statement comparative). The entity is
required to present, in the notes to the financial statements, the comparative information
related to that additional statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

In addition, an entity that changes accounting policies retrospectively, or makes

a retrospective restatement or reclassification which has a material effect on the
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding
period would present the statement of financial position at the end of the current
period and the beginning and end of the preceding period. Other than disclosure of
certain specified information, related notes are not required to accompany the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period.

FRS 16 Property Plant
and Equipment

Classification of
servicing equipment

This amendment clarifies the treatment of spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing
equipment. These should be classified as property, plant and equipment when they meet
the definition of property, plant and equipment in FRS 16 and as inventory otherwise.

FRS 32 Financial
Instruments:
Presentation

Tax effect of
distribution to holders
of equity instruments

This amendment results in consistency between FRS 32 and FRS 12 Income Taxes.
Income tax relating to distributions to holders of an equity instrument and to transaction
costs of an equity transaction should be accounted for in accordance with FRS 12.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and require retrospective application.



f) INT FRS 120 Stripping Costs in the Production
Phase of a Surface Mine

INT FRS 120 applies to waste removal costs that are
incurred in surface mining activity during the production
phase of a mine (‘production stripping costs’). Under the
Interpretation, the costs from this waste removal activity
(‘stripping’) which provide improved access to ore is
recognised as a non-current asset (‘stripping activity
asset’) when certain criteria are met, whereas the costs
of normal on-going operational stripping activities are
accounted for in accordance with FRS 2 Inventories. The
stripping activity asset is accounted for as an addition
to, or as an enhancement of, an existing asset and
classified as tangible or intangible according to the
nature of the existing asset of which it forms part.

An entity should apply this Interpretation to production
stripping costs incurred on or after the beginning of the
earliest period presented. Any previously recognised
stripping asset balance should be reclassified as a part of
an existing asset to which the stripping activity relates to
the extent that there remains an identifiable component
of the ore body with which the predecessor stripping
asset can be associated. If there is no identifiable
component of the ore body to which that predecessor
stripping asset relates, it should be recognised in
opening retained earnings at the beginning of the
earliest period presented.

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

Note: Appendix A contains sample disclosures
required by FRS 8.30 on new/revised FRSs, INT FRSs
and amendments to FRSs that may be relevant to an
entity that were issued but are not effective at the
date of authorisation of the financial statements. The
disclosures are purely for illustrative purposes and may
not be relevant to GAAP Singapore Ltd for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

The disclosures in Appendix A relate to FRSs and INT
FRSs in issue as at October 31, 2013. The following is a
summary of these FRSs.

a) “Package of Five"”

The “Package of Five” consists of the following
standards:

 FRS 27(Revised) Separate Financial Statements

+ FRS 28(Revised) Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements

« FRS 111 Joint Arrangements

« FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

These standards were issued in 2011 and are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2014, with early application permitted. In general, if an
entity wishes for early application, it should apply all the
five standards early at the same time.

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements

« Under FRS 110, there is only one basis for
consolidation for all entities, and that basis is control.
This change removes the perceived inconsistency
between the previous version of FRS 27 Consolidated
Financial Statements and INT FRS 12 Consolidation

— Special Purpose Entities — FRS 27 used a control
concept whilst INT FRS 12 placed greater emphasis on
risks and rewards.

A more robust definition of control has been
developed in FRS 110 in order to capture
unintentional weaknesses of the definition of

control set out in the previous version of FRS 27.

The definition of control in FRS 110 includes three
elements: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure,

or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and (c) ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s
returns. Some of the key changes relating to the new
definition are outlined below:



- FRS 110 requires an investor to focus on activities
that significantly affect the returns of an investee
(“relevant activities”) in assessing whether it has
control over the investee (not merely financial and
operating policies as set out in the previous version
of FRS 27).

- FRS 110 replaces the term ‘benefits’ with the term

‘returns’ so as to clarify that an investor’s returns

could have the potential to be positive, negative or

both.

FRS 110 makes it clear that there must be a linkage

between 'power" and ‘returns from the investee'.

- FRS 110 requires that, in assessing control, only
substantive rights (i.e. rights that their holder has
the practical ability to exercise) are considered. For
a right to be substantive, the right needs to be
currently exercisable by the time when decisions
about the relevant activities need to be made.

+ FRS 110 adds application guidance to assist in
assessing whether an investor controls an investee in
complex scenarios, including:

- Application guidance on when an investor that has
less than 50% of the voting rights of an investee
has control over the investee for reasons other than
contractual arrangements and potential voting
rights (commonly referred to as “de facto control”).
Application guidance on whether a decision maker
is acting as a principal or an agent for another
party. A decision maker that has decision making
authority over the relevant activities of an investee
does not have control over the investee when it is
merely an agent acting on behalf of its principal.
Application guidance on when a particular set of
assets and liabilities of an investee (i.e. a portion of
an investee) can be deemed as a separate entity for
the purposes of determining whether that portion
is a subsidiary of the investor. FRS 110 states that

a portion of an investee is treated as a separate
entity for consolidation purposes when that portion
is economically ‘ring-fenced’ from the rest of the
investee.

FRS 110 does not contain “bright lines” as to when an
investor should or should not consolidate an investee.

Overall, the application of FRS 110 requires significant
judgement on a number of aspects.

FRS 110 requires investors to reassess whether or not
they have control over their investees on transition to
FRS 110. In general, FRS 110 requires retrospective

application, with certain limited transition provisions.

Regarding the requirements for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements, most of the
requirements have remained unchanged from the
previous version of FRS 27 to FRS 110.

Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact
of FRS 110 in future periods can be found in Appendix
A.

FRS 111 Joint Arrangements

FRS 111 replaces FRS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
INT FRS 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers.

FRS 111 deals with how a joint arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control should be
classified. There are two types of joint arrangements
under FRS 111: joint operations and joint ventures.
These two types of joint arrangements are distinguished
by the parties’ rights and obligations under the
arrangements.
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Type of joint arrangement | Features Accounting under FRS 111

Joint venture Joint venturers have rights to the net  Equity method of accounting —
assets of the arrangement. Proportionate consolidation is no longer
allowed.
Joint operation Joint operators have rights to the Each joint operator recognises its assets,
assets and obligations for the liabilities, revenue and expenses, and its
liabilities of the arrangement. share of the assets, liabilities, revenue

and expenses relating to its interest in
the joint operation in accordance with
the FRSs applicable to those particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Under FRS 111, the existence of a separate vehicle is no longer a sufficient condition for a joint arrangement to be
classified as a joint venture whereas, under FRS 31, the establishment of a separate legal vehicle is the key factor in
determining the existence of a jointly controlled entity.

Therefore, upon application of FRS 111, the following changes may occur:

Jointly controlled operations

\

Joint operations — recognise assets,
liabilities, revenue and expense
relating to the arrangement

\/

Jointly controlled assets

Joint venture (must be accounted
for using the equity method of
accounting)

Jointly controlled entity accounted o
for using proportionate consolidation -

FRS 111 requires retrospective application with the following transitional provisions:

vii



Scenario

Scenario 1) The joint
arrangement is a joint
venture under FRS 111 which
was previously treated as a
jointly controlled entity and
proportionate consolidation
was applied

| Adjustments required

Recognise the investment in the joint venture as at the beginning of the
immediately preceding period (i.e. January 1, 2013 if entities apply FRS 111 for
the first time for the year ending December 31, 2014) and measure it as the
aggregate of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities the investor had
previously proportionately consolidated, including any goodwill arising from
acquisition;

Assess impairment on the initial investment as at the beginning of the
immediately preceding period in accordance with paragraphs 40 — 43 of FRS 28
(Revised); and

Adjust retrospectively the annual period immediately preceding the date of
initial application.

Scenario 2) The joint
arrangement is a joint
operation under FRS 111
which was previously treated
as a jointly controlled entity
and the equity method of
accounting was applied

De-recognise the investment that was previously accounted for using the equity
method of accounting as at the beginning of the immediately preceding period
(i.e. January 1, 2013 if entities apply FRS 111 for the first time for the year
ending December 31, 2014);

Recognise the joint operator’s share of each of the assets and the liabilities
(including any goodwill) in a specified proportion in accordance with the
contractual arrangements as at the beginning of the immediately preceding
period; and

Recognise the difference resulting from the above adjustments against goodwill
or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact of FRS 111 in future periods can be found in Appendix A.
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FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

FRS 112 is a new disclosure Standard that sets out what
entities need to disclose in their annual consolidated
financial statements when they have interests in

FRS 112 aims to provide users of financial statements
with information that helps evaluate the nature of and
risks associated with the reporting entity's interests in
other entities and the effects of those interests on its
financial statements.

subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates or
unconsolidated structured entities.

Nature of investment

FRS 112 requires extensive disclosures. The table below
includes some of the new disclosures required by FRS
112.

Disclosures required by FRS 112

1) Investments in subsidiaries
in consolidated financial
statements

Significant judgments and assumptions a reporting entity has made in
determining whether or not it has control over an investee.

Information about the composition of the reporting entity group.
Information about each subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests
(e.g. summarised financial information about each subsidiary).

2) Investments in joint
arrangements and associates

Significant judgments and assumptions a reporting entity has made in
determining (a) whether or not it has joint control/significant influence over an
investee, and (b) how a joint arrangement is classified.

Information about each material joint arrangement/associate (e.g. summarised
financial information about each material joint venture/associate).

Information about risks associated with the reporting entity’s interests in joint
ventures and associates.

3) Investments in
unconsolidated structured
entities

Information about the nature and extent of the reporting entity’s interests in
unconsolidated structured entities (e.g. qualitative and quantitative information
about the nature, purpose, size, and activities of the structured entity and how
the structured entity is financed).

Information about risks associated with the reporting entity’s interests in
unconsolidated structured entities.

Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact of FRS 112 in future periods can be found in Appendix A.



Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 112 and FRS 27
relating to Investment Entities

The amendments to FRS 110 introduce an exception
from the requirement to consolidate subsidiaries for
an investment entity. In terms of the exception, an
investment entity is required to measure its interests

in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss. The
exception does not apply to subsidiaries of investment
entities that provide services that relate to the
investment entity’s investment activities.

To qualify as an investment entity, certain criteria have
to be met. Specifically, an entity is an investment entity
when it:

Obtains funds from one or more investors for
the purpose of providing them with professional
investment management services;
« Commits to its investor(s) that its business purpose
is to invest funds solely for returns from capital
appreciation, investment income, or both; and
+ Measures and evaluates performance of substantially
all of its investments on a fair value basis.

Consequential amendments to FRS 112 and FRS 27 have
been made to introduce new disclosure requirements
for investment entities.

In general, the amendments require retrospective
application, with specific transitional provisions.

b) Amendments to FRS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation relating to Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to FRS 32 clarify existing application
issues relating to the offsetting requirements.
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of
‘currently has a legal enforceable right of set-off’

and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’. The
amendments to FRS 32 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, with
retrospective application required.

Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact
of these amendments in future periods can be found in
Appendix A.

c) Amendments to FRS 36 Impairment of Assets
relating to Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets

The amendments to FRS 36 restrict the requirement

to disclose the recoverable amount of an asset or

CGU to periods in which an impairment loss has been
recognised or reverses. They also expand and clarify the
disclosure requirements applicable when an asset or
CGU's recoverable amount has been determined on the
basis of fair value less costs of disposal, including:

the level of the FRS 113 ‘fair value hierarchy” within

which the fair value measurement of the asset or CGU

has been determined; and

for fair value measurements at Level 2 or 3 of the fair

value hierarchy:

- A description of the valuation techniques used and
any changes in that valuation technique; and

- Key assumptions used in the measurement of fair
value, including the discount rate(s) used in the
current measurement and previous measure if fair
value less costs of disposal is measured using a
present value technique.
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Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact
of these amendments in future periods can be found in
Appendix A.

d) INT FRS 121 Levies

INT FRS 121 addresses concerns on how to account
for levies that are based on financial data of a period
that is different from that in which the activity that
gives rise to the payment of the levy occurs. Specifically,
the Interpretation clarifies that a liability should be
recognised when the obligating event (i.e. the activity
that triggers payment of the levy) occurs.

Sample disclosures required by FRS 8.30 on the impact
of the INT FRS 121 in future periods can be found in
Appendix A.

e) FRS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

The limited scope amendment to FRS 39 provides
some relief to the hedge accounting requirements
when a derivative is required to be novated to a central
counterparty which meets the following criteria:

(i)  The novation is required by laws or regulations;

(i) The novation results in a central counterparty
becoming the new counterparty to each of the
parties to the novated derivative; and

(i) The changes in terms of the novated derivative are
limited to those necessary to effect the terms of the
novated derivative.

Any changes to the derivative's fair value arising from
the novation would be reflected in its measurement and
therefore in the measurement of hedge effectiveness.
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The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended
December 31, 2013.

1 Directors®
The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

Ang Boey Chwee
Desmond Ee Fong Guan
Heng Ing Jong

Kenneth Lim Meng Nam
Ooi Puay Quan
Raymond See Teoh Ung
Vanessa Wong Xiao Ying

Appointed on July 11, 2013)

Appointed on September 7, 2013)

Appointed on November 6, 2013)

Alternate to Ang Boey Chwee and appointed on January 3, 2014)

~ o~ o~ o~

2 Arrangements to enable directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and
debentures

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement
whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or debentures in the company or any other body corporate, except for the options mentioned in paragraphs 3 and
5 of the Report of the directors.

3 Directors’ interests in shares and debentures®

The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital
and debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings
kept by the company under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:



Report of the directors

Source
GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries
Report of the directors
Name of directors | Shareholdings registered in name of director Shareholdings in which directors are
and companies in deemed to have an interest
which interests are
held
At beginning of At end of year At beginning of At end of year
year or date of year or date of
appointment, if later appointment, if later
GAAP Singapore Ltd
(Ordinary shares)
Ang Boey Chwee 40,000,000 50,000,000 250,000 250,000
Kenneth Lim Meng Nam 100,000 575,000 - -
Raymond See Teoh Ung - 25,000 - -
GAAP Holdings Ltd
(Ordinary shares)
Ang Boey Chwee 10,000 10,000 - -
GAAP Pacific Inc.
(Ordinary shares)
Raymond See Teoh Ung 1,000 1,000 - -
CA7 By virtue of section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Mr Ang Boey Chwee is deemed to have an interest in all the
CA 164 related corporations of the company.
LM 1207(7) The directors’ interests in the shares and options of the company at January 21, 2014 were the same at December
31, 2013.
CA 201(8) 4 Directors’ receipt and entitlement to contractual benefits®

Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is
required to be disclosed under section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by
the company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company
in which he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the
financial statements. Certain directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors
and/or executives of those related corporations.

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 2



Report of the directors

CA201(11B)
LM 843(3)

LM 852(1)(a)

LM 849

CA201(12)
LM 852(1)(d), 852(2)
845(5)

LM 845(1)
CA201(12)
CA201(11)

5 Share options®

(a) Options to take up unissued shares
The Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the company was
approved by the shareholders of the company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on March 15, 2008.

The scheme is administered by the Remuneration and Share Options Committee whose members are:

Heng Ing Jong (Chairman)
Desmond Ee Fong Guan
Kenneth Lim Meng Nam
Ooi Puay Quan

Mr Kenneth Lim Meng Nam did not participate in any deliberation or decision in respect of the options granted to
him.

Under the Scheme, options granted to the directors and employees may, except in certain special circumstances,
be exercised at any time after two years but no later than the expiry date. The ordinary shares of the company
(“Shares”) under option may be exercised in full or in respect of 100 Shares or a multiple thereof, on the payment
of the exercise price. The exercise price is based on the average of closing prices of the Shares on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the three market days immediately preceding the date of grant. The
Remuneration and Share Options Committee may at its discretion fix the exercise price at a discount not exceeding
20 percent to the above price. No options have been granted at a discount.

(b) Unissued shares under option and options exercised

The number of Shares available under the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the company.
The number of outstanding share options under the scheme are as follows:



Report of the directors

Source
GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries
Report of the directors
Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the company
Exercise
Date of Balance at Cancelled/ Balance at price per Exercisable
grant 1.1.2013 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2013 Share period
1.7.2012 to
1.7.2010 2,500,000 - (650,000) (61,000) 1,789,000 $4.45 30.6.2014
1.7.2014 to
30.6.2012 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 $4.22 30.6.2016
1.1.2015 to
31.12.2012 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 $4.22 31.12.2016
1.4.2015 to
31.3.2013 - 250,000 - - 250,000 $4.85 31.3.2017
1.7.2015 to
30.6.2013 - 1,150,000 - - 1,150,000 $4.35 30.6.2017
1.11.2015 to
31.10.2013 - 300,000 - - 300,000 $4.84 30.10.2017
Total 4,500,000 1,700,000 (650,000) (61,000) 5,489,000
CA 201(11A) Particulars of the options granted in 2010 and 2012 under the scheme were set out in the Report of the directors

for the financial year ended December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2012 respectively.

In respect of options granted to employees of related corporations, a total of 920,000 options were granted during
LM 852(1)(c)(ii) the financial year, making it a total of 2,085,000 options granted to employees of related corporations from the
commencement of the Scheme to the end of the financial year.

CA 201 (11) () Holders of the above share options have no right to participate in any share issues of any other company. No
LM 852(1)(b)(iii) employee or employee of related corporations has received 5% or more of the total options available under the
LM 852(2) scheme.
LM 852(1)(b)(ii) There are no options granted to any of the company’s controlling shareholders or their associates (as defined in the
LM 852(2) Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Listing Manual).
LM 852(1)(b)(i) The information on directors of the company participating in the Scheme is as follows:
Name of director | Options granted Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate Aggregate
during the options options options options
financial year granted since exercised since lapsed since outstanding as
commencement commencement commencement at the end of
of the Scheme of the Scheme of the Scheme financial year
to the end of to the end of to the end of
financial year financial year financial year
Kenneth Lim 8,000 28,000 13,000 - 15,000
Meng Nam

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 4
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CA 201B(9)
CA 201B(2), (3)

CA 201B(5)(a)

CA 201B(6)

CA 201B(5)(b)

CA 201(6A)

6 Audit committee®

The Audit Committee of the company, consisting all non-executive directors, is chaired by Mr Ooi Puay Quan,
an independent director, and includes Mr Desmond Ee Fong Guan, an independent director and Mr Raymond
See Teoh Ung. The Audit Committee has met four times since the last Annual General Meeting (“AGM") and has
reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive directors and external and internal auditors of the
company:

(@) The audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group’s systems of
internal accounting controls;

(b) The group's financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(0 The financial statements of the company and the consolidated financial statements of the group before their
submission to the directors of the company and external auditors’ report on those financial statements;

(d) The quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and
financial position of the company and the group;

(e) The co-operation and assistance given by the management to the group’s external auditors; and

(f)  The re-appointment of the external auditors of the group.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the
resources required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and
executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appoint-
ment as external auditors of the group at the forthcoming AGM of the company.

7 Auditors?”

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors®

Ang Boey Chwee

Desmond Ee Fong Guan

January 31, 2014
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CA4
FRS 1.36
FRS 1.37

CA 201(6), (6A)

CA 201(6)(g)
CA 201(6A)(N)
CA201(11)

(

11
CA 201(11B)

CA 164(3)

Guidance notes — Report of the directors

1. Financial year

If the company'’s financial year is less than 12 months, the term “financial year” is defined in the first paragraph of
the Report of the directors and therefore the rest of the report can still be “year” and does not require amendment
to “period”. Where there is a change of financial year end, the reason for the change should be disclosed in the
Report of the directors as well as the notes to financial statements.

2. Directors in office at the date of the report

If a director was appointed during the financial year and up to the date of the Report of the directors, the date
of the appointment, although not required, is recommended to be disclosed clearly to identify the new director.
There is no requirement to give details of director(s) who resigned during the financial year and up to the date of
the Report of the directors.

3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

Directors” interests include personal holdings, beneficial interest of their immediate family and deemed interests as
defined by Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act. Directors’ interests in rights or share options are also to be
disclosed accordingly.

If a director resigns after the end of the financial year but before the date of the Report of the directors, his
interest at the end of the financial year should be disclosed.

Where the company is a wholly owned subsidiary of another company (the “holding company”), the company
may be deemed to have complied with section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act in relation to a director who
is also a director of that other company if the particulars required by this section to be shown in the register of the
company are shown in the register of the holding company. The following should be disclosed:

“The directors, Mr/Ms and Mr/Ms are also directors of GAAP Holdings Ltd, incorporated
in the Republic of Singapore, which owns all the shares of the company. Their interests in shares are recorded in
the register of directors’ shareholdings kept under section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act by the holding
company and are therefore not disclosed in this report.”

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 6
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Guidance notes — Report of the directors (continued)

CA 201(8) 4. Directors’ receipt and entitlement to contractual benefits
The directors of the company shall state in the report whether since the end of the previous financial year, a
director of the company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the
aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors shown in the financial state-
ments or, if the company is a holding company, the consolidated financial statements in accordance with FRS
or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the company) by reason of a contract made by the company or a
related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a
substantial financial interest and if so, the general nature of the benefit. Examples include professional or directors’
fees to a law firm in which the director(s) are partners. The amount disclosed must appear in Note 47 “Profit for
the year”. The general nature of the benefit should be disclosed where a contract subsists. Where there are such
transactions, the following should be disclosed:

“There were certain transactions (as shown in the financial statements) with a corporation(s) in which certain
directors have an interest”.

CA 201(11) 5. Share options
CA 201(11A) The disclosures required by section 201(11) of the Singapore Companies Act relate to options granted by the
CA 201(11B) company. Where any of the disclosures have been made in a previous report, the company need only make

reference to that report.
For options granted by the company during the financial year, the following disclosures have to be made:

a) The number and class of shares in respect of which the option has been granted;

The date of expiration of the option;

©) The basis upon which the option may be exercised; and

Whether the person to whom the option has been granted has any right to participate by virtue of the
option in any share issue of any other company.

~ o~ ~
o O
= =

Where there are share options of subsidiaries, the following should be disclosed:

“At the end of the financial year, there were XX,XXX ordinary shares of GAAP Logistics Pte Ltd under option
relating to the (name of option scheme) Share Option Scheme. Details and terms of the options have been
disclosed in the Report of the directors of GAAP Logistics Pte Ltd.”




Report of the directors

Guidance notes — Report of the directors (continued)
CA 201 (11B) If there are no options to take up unissued shares during the financial year, the following should be disclosed:

“Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group
were granted.”

CA 201(12)(@) If no options were exercised during the financial year, the following should be disclosed:

“Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by virtue
of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.”

If there are no unissued shares under option at the end of the financial year, the following should be disclosed:

CA 201(12)(b) “Unissued shares under option
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group
under options.”

CA 201B(1) 6. Audit committee

CA 201B(9) Every listed company shall have an audit committee. For listed companies, the details and functions of the audit
committee should be disclosed in the Report of the directors if the statutory accounts (which would not contain
a section on corporate governance), rather than the annual report, is filed with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority of Singapore.

7. Auditor
The information on the auditor is not compulsory, but it is often disclosed.

CA 203(1) 8. Dating and signing of the Report of the Directors

LM 707 The phrase “On behalf of the directors” is not necessary if the company only has 2 directors.

CA 201(5)

LM Appdx 2.2(10) The Report of the directors shall be made out not less than 14 days before the date of the company’s annual

general meeting (“AGM"). The report shall be made in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors,
which will specify the day on which it is to be made out and be signed by 2 directors.

CA 201(1)(@), (b) AGMs should be held within 4 and 6 months of the end of each financial year for listed and non-listed companies
CA 201(3A)), (i) respectively.

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 8



Statement of directors

CA 201(15) In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial
position and statement of changes in equity of the company as set out on pages 14 to 207 are drawn up so as to
CA 201(15)(@), (b) give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2013, and of

the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the financial
year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will
CA 201(15)() be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors
CA 201(15)

Ang Boey Chwee

Desmond Ee Fong Guan

January 31, 2014

Guidance Note:

Section 201(15) of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) appears to require this statement to accompany the
statutory financial statements of a company “before the auditor reports on the accounts” under Part VI of the Act.
Consequently, this statement is presented before the auditors’ report to the financial statements.



Independent auditors' report

Deloitte

SSA 700

SSA700Q21), (22) Report on the Financial Statements

SSA 700(23) We have audited the accompanying financial statements® of GAAP Singapore Ltd (the “company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the group and the
statement of financial position of the company as at December 31, 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the group
and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information®@, as set out on pages 14 to 207.

SSA 70024 to 27) Management'’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

SSA 700(A22) Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss
accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility
SSA 700(28) Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
SSA 700(29), (30) ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

SSA'700(31), (33) assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 10



Independent auditors' report

SSA 700(34)

SSA 700(35)

CA 207(2)(a)

CA 207(2)(b)

1

Opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group
and of the company as at December 31, 2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group
and changes in equity of the company for the year ended on that date.®

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore®®

January 31, 2014



Independent auditors' report
p p

SSA 700(22)

SSA 710(17)
lllustration 3

SSA710(17)

Guidance notes — Auditors’ report

1. Addressee
The Auditors’ report should be appropriately addressed as required by the circumstances of the engagement and
local regulations. The report is ordinarily addressed to the members of the company.

2. First year engagements
For first year engagements, the following shall be added after the opinion paragraph of the Auditors’ Report if the
financial statements for the preceding year were unqualified by the predecessor auditors:

Other Matters

“The financial statements of the company for the year ended December 31, 2012 were audited by another
auditor (or firm of auditors) who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements in their report
dated Mm Dd, Yyyy”

If the predecessor auditors’ opinion was modified, the following shall be added:

“The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012 were audited by another auditor (or firm
of auditors) whose report dated Mm Dd, Yyyy expressed a qualified opinion on those financial statements as
follows:

<<Quote qualification by predecessor auditors>>"

3. For group and holding companies only
Where the complete set of financial statements of the company is also presented, the following opinion para-
graphs would be appropriate:

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the financial statements of the company
are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31,
2013 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and of the company for the year ended
on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Act.

lllustrative Financial Statements 2013 12



Independent auditors' report
p p

SSA 700(41)
CA 201(4A)
SSA 700(A39)

SSA 700(42)

LM 713(1)

13

4. Date of independent auditors' report

The auditor should date the report on the financial statements no earlier than the date on which the auditor has
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence on which to base the opinion on the financial statements. The
directors shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the accounts are audited not less than 14 days before the
annual general meeting of the company. Since the auditor’s opinion is provided on the financial statements and
the financial statements are the responsibility of management, the auditor is not in a position to conclude that
sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained until the auditor obtains evidence that a complete set of
financial statements has been prepared and management has accepted responsibility for them.

5. Other specimens and modified reports
For other specimens and modified reports, please refer to SSA 705, SSA 706, SSA 710 and AGS 1.

6. Auditor’s address
The report should name a specific location, which is ordinarily the city where the auditor maintains the office that
has responsibility for the audit.

7. Name of audit partner

The listing manual requires an issuer to disclose in its annual report the date of appointment and the name of the
audit partner in charge of auditing the issuer and its group of companies. However, this information need not

be in the audit report. For example, an issuer may typically disclose this information in the corporate information
section of its annual report.

8. Terminology used in the Financial Statements

The use of titles of the Financial Statements such as “Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income” is not mandatory. Other terminology, such as “Statement of Comprehensive Income” is also commonly
used. Titles of the other statements such as “Balance Sheet” and “Statement of Financial Position”, and “Cash
Flow Statement” and “Statement of Cash Flows"” may be used interchangeably. The reference from the Auditors’
Report should be updated accordingly.



Statements of financial position

FRS 1.51(a), (b)

CA 201.3A(a, b)
FRS 1.51 (b), (0)

FRS 1.10(a),(ea)
LM 1207(5)(@), (b)
FRS 1.38, 1.113
FRS 1.51(d), (e)

FRS 8.28, 8.29, 8.42(a)

FRS 1.60

FRS 1.
FRS 1.

66(d), 1.54()
66(a, ©), 1.54(h)

FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55

FRS 1.66(a, ©), 1.54(g)

FRS 1.66(b), 1.54()

FRS 1.60
FRS 1.54(a)
FRS 1.54(b)
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.54(c)
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.54(e)
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55

FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.55
FRS 1.54(0), 1.56

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position®
December 31, 2013

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables
Finance lease receivables

Held for trading investments
Held-to-maturity financial assets®
Derivative financial instruments
Inventories

Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment property

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Subsidiaries™

Associates®?

Available-for-sale investments

Other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Held-to-maturity financial assets®

Finance lease receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Note

7

10
11
12
13
14

16
17
18
19
20
21
23

24
25
10
13
26

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
10,759 1,175 2,074 647
127,916 123,656 89,371 55,895
54,713 49,674 - -
11,988 11,125 - -
25,255 18,605 - -
2,436 2,938 - -
117,693 108,698 - -
350,760 315,871 91,445 56,542
1,922 - - -
352,682 315,871 91,445 56,542
657,905 566,842 - -
12,000 11,409 - -
4,038 2,538 - -
26,985 21,294 - -
- - 111,650 110,000
45,060 12,274 - -
20,232 23,215 - -
1,018 1,000 - -
2,293 2,694 - -
114,937 104,489 - -
2,602 - - -
5,006 3,291 117 -
892,076 749,046 111,767 110,000
1,244,758 1,064,917 203,212 166,542

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013 14




Statements of financial position

FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1

FRS 1

FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1

FRS 1

FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1
FRS 1.

15

.60

.55

.55, 1,54(k)
.55

.55

54()

.54(n)

.54(p)

.60

.55

.55

.55

.55

.55

.55

54()

.54(0), 1.56

.54(r)

.78(e)
.55
.55
.55
.55
.55
.55

54(q), 27.27

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Statements of financial position®
December 31, 2013

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts and loans
Trade and other payables
Finance leases

Derivative financial instruments
Provisions

Income tax payable

Liabilities directly associated with
assets classified as held for sale
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans

Convertible loan notes
Retirement benefit obligations
Finance leases

Share-based payments

Other payables

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Capital, reserves and
non-controlling interests
Share capital

Treasury shares

Capital reserves

Revaluation reserves

Hedging and translation reserves
Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Note

27
28
29
13
30

15

27
31
32
29
33
28
30
26

34
35
36
37
38

—

Group Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
94,307 78,686 - -
191,429 134,412 3,044 4,534
1,470 1,483 - -
273 - - -
6,432 2,065 - -
8,269 1,986 - -
302,180 218,632 3,044 4,534
247 - - -
302,427 218,632 3,044 4,534
356,353 448,753 - -
24,327 - 24,327 -
33,928 38,474 - -
923 1,244 - -
6,528 3,516 6,528 3,516
75 - - -
2,118 - - -
15,447 5,772 4,407 3,052
439,699 497,759 35,262 6,568
158,098 152,098 158,098 152,098
(500) - (500) -
4,633 1,202 4,883 1,202
94,598 33,941 - -
(11,109) 508 - -
252,327 158,201 2,425 2,140
498,047 345,950 164,906 155,440
4,585 2,576 - -
502,632 348,526 164,906 155,440
,244,758 1,064,917 203,212 166,542




Statements of financial position

FRS 27.10
CA 201.3A(a, b)
CA 201.3BA

FRS 27.42

FRS 27.16

Guidance notes — Statements of financial position

1. Exemption from presenting consolidated financial statements
A parent shall consolidate all subsidiaries in its consolidated statement of financial position. A parent is exempted
from presenting consolidated financial statements if and only if the following conditions are all met:

a. The parent is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity and its other
owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to, the
parent not presenting consolidated financial statements;

b. The parent’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange
or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets);

. The parent did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities commission or
other regulatory organisation for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a public market; and

d. The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the parent produces consolidated financial statements available for
public use.

If a parent company satisfies all the above conditions and elects not to present consolidated financial statements,
it shall disclose the following:

a. The fact that the financial statements are separate financial statements;

b. That the exemption from consolidation has been used;

¢. The name and country of incorporation or residence of the entity whose consolidated financial statements have
been produced for public use;

d. The address where those consolidated financial statements are obtainable;

e. A list and description of significant investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates,
including the name, country of incorporation or residence, proportion of ownership interest and, if different,
proportion of voting power held; and

f. The method used to account for investments listed under (e).

FRS 27 departs from IAS 27 in that, to qualify for exemption under FRS 27.10, the consolidated financial
statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent of the company available for public use need not
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards or Singapore Financial Reporting Standards.

The following disclosure should be included in the notes on the summary of significant accounting policies:

“CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — The financial statements of the subsidiaries have not been consoli-
dated with the company’s financial statements as the company itself is a wholly-owned subsidiary of (name of
holding company), incorporated in (country of holding company), which prepares consolidated financial state-
ments on a worldwide basis. Such financial statements are publicly available.

The registered address of (name of holding company) is (address of holding company).

Investments in subsidiaries in the financial statements of the company are stated at cost, less any impairment in
recoverable value.”

Companies that are venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities are not excluded
from consolidating their subsidiaries.
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FRS 28.13

FRS 28.13(a)

FRS 28.1

FRS 28.13(b) and (c)

FRS 31.2

FRS 31.2(a)

FRS 31.1

FRS 31.2(b) and (c)
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Guidance notes — Statements of financial position (continued)

2. Exemption from equity accounting for associates
A company shall equity account for all associates. A company is exempted from equity accounting for associates if
and only if in the following circumstances or the following conditions are all met:

a. The investment is classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations and are accounted for in accordance with FRS 105;

b. The company is a venture capital organisation, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity, including investment-
linked insurance funds, that upon initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss or are
classified as held for trading and accounted for in accordance with FRS 39; or

c. If all of the following apply:

i. The investor is a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity and its
other owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not
object to, the investor not applying the equity method;

ii. The investor’s debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock
exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets);

iii. The investor did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities
commission or other regulatory organisation, for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market; and

iv. The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the investor produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use.

3. Exemption from proportionate consolidation or equity accounting for joint ventures
A venturer with an interest in a jointly controlled entity is exempted from the requirements of FRS 31.30
(proportionate consolidation) and FRS 31.38 (equity method) when it meets the following conditions:

a. The interest is classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations;

b. The company is a venture capital organization, mutual fund, unit trust or similar entity, including investment-
linked insurance funds, that upon initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss or are
classified as held for trading and accounted in accordance with FRS 39; or

c. If all of the following apply:

i. The venturer is a wholly-owned subsidiary, or is a partially-owned subsidiary of another entity and its
owners, including those not otherwise entitled to vote, have been informed about, and do not object to,
the venturer not applying proportionate consolidation or the equity method;

ii. The venturer's debt or equity instruments are not traded in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock
exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local and regional markets);

iii. The venturer did not file, nor is it in the process of filing, its financial statements with a securities
commission or other regulatory organisation, for the purpose of issuing any class of instruments in a
public market; and

iv. The ultimate or any intermediate parent of the venturer produces consolidated financial statements
available for public use.



Statements of financial position

FRS 1(2012).40A-40D

FRS 1.41
FRS 1.42

FRS 1.55

FRS 107.8

Guidance notes — Statements of financial position (continued)

4. Restatements and reclassifications

FRS 1.39 states that when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective
restatement of items in its financial statements or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements, it shall
present, as a minimum, three statements of financial position, two of each of the other statements, and related
notes.

As part of the 2012 Annual Improvements to FRS, FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements has been revised

to provide guidance on when a statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period (third
statement of financial position) and the related notes should be presented in the financial statements. Based on the
amendments, an entity is required to present a third statement of financial position if:

a. It applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial
statements or reclassifies items in its financial statements; and

b. The retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a material effect on the
information in the third statement of financial position.

Other than disclosures of certain specified information as required by FRS 1.41 to FRS 1.44 and FRS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, the related notes to the third statement of financial position
are not required to be disclosed.

Where the presentation or classification of items in the statements is amended, comparative amounts shall be
reclassified unless the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are reclassified, an entity shall
disclose the nature of the reclassification, the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified and the
reason for the reclassification (See Note 57 to the Illustrative Financial Statements for a sample disclosure format as
required by FRS 1.41).

5. Presentation of financial instruments in of the statement of financial position

FRS 1.54 and FRS 107.8 do not require separate line items for held-for-trading investments, held-to-maturity
financial assets, derivative financial instruments, available-for-sale investments and other financial assets at FVTPL.
Hence, it is acceptable to combine them into one line item on the statement of financial position with details

in a note. However, depending on the significance of these items, each can be separately shown as a line item
respectively as illustrated in these illustrative financial statements.

FRS 107.8 requires the carrying amounts of each of the following categories as defined in FRS 39, to be disclosed
either in the statement of financial position or in the notes [see illustration in Note 4(a)]:

a. Financial assets at FVTPL, showing separately (i) those designated upon initial recognition and (i) those classified
as held-for-trading;

b. Held-to-maturity investments;

¢. Loans and receivables;

d. Available-for-sale financial assets

e. Financial liabilities at FVTPL, showing separately (i) those designated as such upon initial recognition and (ii)
those classified as held-for-trading

f. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

6. Terminology used in the Financial Statements

The use of titles of the Financial Statements such as “Statement of Financial Position” is not mandatory. The use of
“Balance Sheet” and “Statement of Financial Position” may be used interchangeably. The reference in the Auditors’
Report should be updated accordingly.
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Consolidated statement of profit or

[Alt 1]

loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 1.51(a)

FRS 1.10(b), 1.51(b)
FRS 1.51(0)

LM 1207(5)(a)
CA 201.3A)
FRS 1.113

FRS 1.51(d), (e)

FRS 1.82(a)

FRS 1.85
FRS 1.99

FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.82(c)
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.82(b)

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.82(d)

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.82(ea)

FRS 1.81A(a)
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income('?

Year ended December 31, 2013

Note

Continuing operations
Revenue 40
Other operating income
Changes in inventories of finished goods

and work in progress?
Raw materials and consumables used®
Employee benefits expense® 47
Depreciation and amortisation expense® 47
Other operating expenses?
Share of profit of associates
Investment revenue 42
Other gains and losses® 43
Finance costs 44
Profit before tax
Income tax expense 45
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operation®
Profit for the year from discontinued

operation 46

47

2013
$'000

1,064,660

9,892

4,026
(667,794
(220,299

(35,304
(29,430
12,763
3,501
120
(36,870)

)
)
)
)

105,265
(16,166)

89,099

10,676

99,775

Group

2012
$'000

728,250

6,745

4,432
(460,961
(188,809

(17,238
(22,586
983
717
(50)
(31,613)

)
)
)
)

19,870
(3,810)

16,060

4,171

20,231



Consolidated statement of profit or

[Alt 1]

loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 1.91(b)

FRS 1.82A(a)

FRS 1.82A(b)

FRS 1.81A(b)

FRS 1.81A(0)

FRS 1.81B(a)(ii)
FRS 1.81B(a)(i)

Other comprehensive income®®1";

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation of property

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive
income that will not be reclassified subsequently

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Cash flow hedges

Available-for-sale investments

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive
income that may be reclassified subsequently

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the company
Non-controlling interests

Note 2013

39 64,709

(3,692)

61,017

39 510
39 (360)
39 (12,127)
45 -

(11,977)

49,040

148,815

99,166
609

99,775

Group

(4,428)

320

(4,108)

610
(360)
2,706

2,956

(1,152)

19,079

20,134
97

20,231
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. [Alt 1]
Consolidated statement of profit or
° L]
loss and other comprehensive income
Group
Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000

FRS 1.81B(b)(ii) Total comprehensive income attributable to:
FRS 1.81B(b)(i)

Owners of the company 148,206 18,982

Non-controlling interests 609 97

148,815 19,079

Earnings per share® 49
FRS 33.66 From continuing and discontinued operations:

Basic 82.1 cents 16.8 cents
FRS 33.66

Diluted 59.4 cents 16.5 cents

From continuing operations:
FRS 33.66 Basic 73.2 cents 13.3 cents
FRS 33.66 Diluted 53.1 cents 13.1 cents

21

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Note: The amendments to FRS 1 issued during August 2012 introduce new terminology for the statement of
comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to FRS 1, the ‘statement of comprehen-
sive income” is renamed as the ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’ and the ‘income
statement’ is renamed as the ‘statement of profit or loss’. Use of the new terminology is not mandatory.

One statement vs. two statements

The amendments to FRS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCl) in
either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. Alt 1 above illustrates the presentation of
profit or loss and OCl in one statement. Alt 2 (see the following pages) illustrates the presentation of profit or loss
and OCl in two separate but consecutive statements.

Whichever presentation approach is adopted, the distinction is retained between items recognised in profit or loss
and items recognised in OCI. Under both approaches, profit and loss, total OCl, as well as comprehensive income
for the period (being the total of profit or loss and OCI) should be presented. Under the two-statement approach,
the separate statement of profit or loss ends at ‘profit for the year’, and this ‘profit for the year’ is then the starting
point for the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, which is required to be presented
immediately following the statement of profit or loss. In addition, the analysis of ‘profit for the year’ between the
amount attributable to the owners of the company and the amount attributable to non-controlling interests is
presented as part of the separate statement of profit or loss.

OCI: items that may or may not be reclassified

Irrespective of whether the one-statement or the two-statement approach is followed, the items of OCl should be
classified by nature and grouped into those that, in accordance with other FRSs:

(a) Will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and

(b) May be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met.



Consolidated statement

of profit or loss

FRS 1.51(a)

FRS 1.10A, 1.51(b)
FRS 1.51(c)

LM 1207(5)(a)
CA 201.3A(@a)
FRS 1.113

FRS 1.51(d), (e)

FRS 1.82(a)

FRS 1.85
FRS 1.99

FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.82(c)
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.82(b)

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.82(d)

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.82(ea)

FRS 1.81A(a)

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Year ended December 31, 2013

Note

Continuing operations
Revenue 40
Other operating income
Changes in inventories of finished goods

and work in progress?
Raw materials and consumables used?®
Employee benefits expense®? 47
Depreciation and amortisation expense® 47
Other operating expenses®?
Share of profit of associates
Investment revenue 42
Other gains and losses® 43
Finance costs 44
Profit before tax
Income tax expense 45
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operation®
Profit for the year from discontinued

operation 46
Profit for the year 47

1,064,660

9,892

4,026
(667,794
(220,299

(35,304
(29,430
12,763
3,501
120
(36,870)

S =2

105,265
(16,166)

89,099

10,676

99,775

[Alt 2]

728,250
6,745

4,432
(460,961)
(188,809)

(17,238)
(22,586)
983
717
(50)
(31,613)

19,870
(3,810)

16,060

4,171

20,231
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of profit or loss

FRS 1.81B(a)(ii)
FRS 1.81B(a)(i)

FRS 33.67A

FRS 33.66

FRS 33.66

FRS 33.66

FRS 33.66
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Note
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the company
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share® 49

From continuing and discontinued operations:
Basic

Diluted

From continuing operations:

Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to financial statements

99,166
609

99,775

82.1 cents

59.4 cents

73.2 cents

53.1 cents

Group

[Alt 2]

16.8 cents

16.5 cents

13.3 cents

13.1 cents



Consolidated statement of profit or

[Alt 2]

loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 1.51(a)

FRS 1.10A, 1.51(b)

FRS 1.51(0)

LM 1207(5)(a)
CA 201.3A(a)
FRS 1.113

FRS 1.51(d), (e)

FRS 1.10A

FRS 1.82A(a)

FRS 1.91(b)

FRS 1.82A(b)

FRS 1.91(b)

FRS 1.81A(b)

FRS 1.81A(0)

FRS 1.81B(b)(ii)
FRS 1.81B(b)(i)

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income('?

Year ended December 31, 2013

Note

Profit for the year 47
Other comprehensive income®®1;

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation of property 39
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive

income that will not be reclassified subsequently

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Cash flow hedges 39
Available-for-sale investments 39
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 39

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive
income that may be reclassified subsequently 45

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the company
Non-controlling interests

See accompanying notes to financial statements

2013
$'000

99,775

64,709

(3,692)

61,017

510

(360)

(12,127)

(11,977)

49,040

148,815

148,206
609

148,815

Group

2012
$'000

20,231

(4,428)

320

(4,108)

610

(360)

2,706

2,956

(1,152)

19,079

18,982
97

19,079
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Consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income

CA 201.3A
CA 201.3A(b)
LM 1207(5)(b)
CA 201.3BA

FRS 1.99

FRS 1.82(a)

FRS 1.99

FRS 1.85
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.99
FRS 1.82(c)
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.85
FRS 1.82(b)

FRS 1.85
FRS 1.82(d)

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.82(ea)

FRS 1.81A(a)
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Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income:

1. Statement of Profit or loss and Other comprehensive income and statement of cash flows

Where consolidated financial statements are required, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehen-

sive income and statement of cash flows of the company need not be presented. However, the statement of
financial position of the company has to be presented. If consolidated financial statements are not required, for
reasons such as exemption under FRS 27.10, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
statement of cash flows of the company shall be presented.

2. Alternative formats of the analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss

The entity shall present an analysis of expenses recognised in profit or loss using a classification based on either
their nature or their function, whichever provides information that is reliable and more relevant. The formats
outlined under Alt 1 and Alt 2 above aggregate expenses according to their nature. The format outlined below
aggregates expenses according to their function (FRS 1.99).

Group
Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Continuing operations
Revenue 40 1,064,660 728,250
Cost of sales (697,027) (552,343)
Gross profit 367,633 175,907
Other operating income 9,892 6,745
Distribution costs (96,298) (45,609)
Administrative expenses (132,076) (69,486)
Other operating expenses (23,400) (17,724)
Share of profit of associates 12,763 983
Investment revenue 42 3,501 717
Other gains and losses® 43 120 (50)
Finance costs 44 (36,870) (31,613)
Profit before tax 105,265 19,870
Income tax expense 45 (16,166) (3,810)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 89,099 16,060
Discontinued operation®
Profit for the year from discontinued operation 46 10,676 4,171
Profit for the year 47 99,775 20,231



Consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income

Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income
(continued)

Attributable to:
FRS 1.81B(b)(ii) Owners of the company 99,166 20,134
FRS 1.81B(b)(i) Non-controlling interests 609 97

99,775 20,231
3. Alternative presentation for components of other comprehensive income
The company may present components of other comprehensive income either before related tax effects with one
amount shown for the aggregate amount of income tax relating to those components (as shown in the preceding
pages) or net of related tax effects as shown below:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
FRS 1.91 Other comprehensive income, after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation of property 61,017 4,108
61,017 4,108
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Cash flow hedges 510 610
Available-for-sale investments (360) (360)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (12,127) 2,706
(11,977) 2,956
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 49,040 (1.152)
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Consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 1.90

FRS 1.94

FRS 105.33A
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Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income
(continued)

Whichever option is selected, the income tax relating to each component of comprehensive income must be
disclosed, either in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes (see Note 45).

4. Components of other comprehensive income and reclassification adjustments

For reclassification adjustments, an aggregated presentation can be adopted, with separate disclosure of
the current year gain or loss and reclassification adjustments in the notes. The above shows an aggregated
presentation of components of comprehensive income. Note 39 shows the amounts for reclassification
adjustments and any current year gain or losses.

Alternatively, using a disaggregated presentation, the current year gain or loss and reclassification adjustments can
be shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

An entity may present the analysis of reclassification adjustments in other comprehensive income by item either in
the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.

5. Discontinued operations
If an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate statement as described in FRS 1.10A i.e. Alt 2, a
section identified as relating to discontinued operations is presented in that statement.

FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations specifies the disclosures required in respect
of assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. Consequently, disclosures in
other FRSs do not apply to such assets (or disposal groups) unless:

« Those FRSs specifically require disclosures in respect of noncurrent assets (or disposal groups) classified as held
for sale or discontinued operations; or

« The disclosures relate to the measurement of assets or liabilities within a disposal group that are outside the
scope of FRS 105's measurement requirements and the information is not disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements.

For earnings per share on discontinued operations, please see 6 below.



Consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 33.66
FRS 33.67A

FRS 33.66
FRS 33.69

FRS 33.68
FRS 33.68A

FRS 1.38

Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income
(continued)

6. Earnings per share

The company should present both basic and diluted earnings per share on the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for each class of ordinary shares that has a different right to share in the net profit
for the year. If a company presents the components of profit or loss in a separate statement as described in FRS
1.10A i.e. Alt 2, it presents basic and diluted earnings per share only in that separate statement. An entity shall
present basic and diluted earnings per share with equal prominence for all periods presented, even should the
amounts disclosed be the same or be negative.

Where the company reports a discontinued operation, it shall disclose the basic and diluted earnings per share
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes to the financial statements. If
an entity presents the components of profit or loss in a separate statement as described in FRS 1.10A i.e. Alt 2, it
presents basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued operation, in that separate statement or in the
notes.

FRS 33.12 requires that basic and diluted earnings per share be computed based on the amounts attributable to
ordinary owners of the parent entity in respect of (a) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the
parent entity; and (b) profit or loss attributable to the parent entity.

Voluntary “per-share” disclosures

Entities may voluntarily disclose per share amounts for other components of total comprehensive income or
separate statement of profit or loss, subject to the requirements of paragraphs 73 and 73A of FRS 33 i.e. provided
that:

- Such amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares determined in accordance
with FRS 33;

- Basic and diluted amounts per share relating to such a component are disclosed with equal prominence and
presented in the notes; and

- The entity discloses the basis on which the numerator(s) is (are) determined, including whether amounts per
share are before tax or after tax.

If a component of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (or separate statement as
described in FRS 1.10A) is used that is not reported as a line item in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (or separate statement as described in FRS 1.10A), a reconciliation shall be provided
between the component used and a line item that is reported in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (or separate statement as described in FRS 1.10A).

7. Financial years of different lengths
Where the length of the current financial year is of a different timeframe from the comparative financial year,
additional disclosure is required in the Notes to Financial Statements to highlight the fact that the amounts

disclosed are not comparable. The following should be disclosed in the notes:

“Comparative figures
The financial statements for 2013 covered the period from July 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013.

The financial statements for 2012 covered the twelve months ended June 30, 2012.”

Illustrative Financial Statements 2013
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loss and other comprehensive income

FRS 1.41

FRS 1.85

FRS 1.86

FRS 1.87

FRS 1.82A
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Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Income
(continued)

8. Reclassifications and restatements

Where the presentation or classification of items in the statements is amended, comparative amounts shall be
reclassified unless the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are reclassified, an entity shall
disclose the nature of the reclassification, the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified and the
reason for the reclassification (See Note 57 to the lllustrative Financial Statements for a sample disclosure format as
required by FRS 1.41).

9. Additional disclosures

Additional line items, headings and subtotals should be presented in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the separate statement of profit or loss (if presented under Alt 2), when such
presentation is relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance. When items of income and
expense are material, their nature and amount shall be disclosed separately.

10. Extraordinary items

The company shall not present any items of income and expense as extraordinary items, either in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income or the separate statement of profit or loss (if presented under Alt
2), or in the notes.

11. Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method

FRS 1.82A requires disclosure of the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method, if any, on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

12. Terminology used in the Financial Statements
The use of titles of the Financial Statements such as “Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income” is not mandatory. The reference in the Auditors’ Report should be updated accordingly.

13.Reference to consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The notes to the financial statements of the illustrative financial statements hereafter will be based on Alt 1.
Reference will be made to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as
applicable.
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Statements of changes in equity

FRS 1.106A

FRS 1.79

35

Guidance notes — Statement of Changes in Equity
1. Level of detail presented in the statement of changes in equity

An entity may present the analysis of other comprehensive income by item for each component of equity either

in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements (See Note 37 and Note 38).

FRS 1 also allows that some of the details regarding items of other comprehensive income (income tax and
reclassification adjustments) may be disclosed in the notes (See Note 39 and Note 45) rather than in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

FRS 1 also permits the description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within equity to be presented either in
the statement of financial position or the statement of changes in equity, or in the notes (See Notes 34 to 39).

Entities will determine the most appropriate presentation for their circumstances — electing to present much of
the detail in the notes (as presented in these illustrative financial statements) ensures that the primary financial
statements are not cluttered by unnecessary detail.

Whichever presentation is selected, entities will need to ensure that the following requirements are met:

Detailed reconciliations are required for each class of share capital (in the statement of changes in equity or in
the notes) — See Note 34;

Detailed reconciliations are required for each component of equity — separately disclosing the impact on each
such component of (i) profit or loss, (i) each component of other comprehensive income, and (iii) transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners (in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes) — In this
illustrative financial statements, details of non-owner changes in equity are available from the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income and Note 39; and details of owner changes in equity are available from
the statements of changes in equity itself;

The amount of income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income should be disclosed (in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes) — See Note 45; and
Reclassification adjustments should be presented separately from the related component of other comprehensive
income (in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes) — See Note 39.



2. Changes in accounting policy
FRS 1.106(b)
FRS 8.22 If a new accounting policy is adopted during the year, a sample disclosure of the effects of retrospective applica-
tion on the opening balance of each affected component of equity for the earliest prior period presented (i.e.
January 1, 2012) on the statement of changes in equity is as follows:
Share
Share  Treasury Equity options Retained
capital  shares reserves reserve earnings Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(Note 34) (Note 35) (Note 36) (Note 36)

Balance at January 1, 2012 152,098 = = = 1,819 153,917

Effects of adopting
amendments to FRS 19 [Note X] = = = = [XXX] [XXX]

Balance at January 1, 2012
(as restated) 152,098 - - - [XXX] [XXX1

Total comprehensive income
(as restated) [Note X] = = = = [XXX] [XXX]

lllustrative Financial Statements 2013 36



Consolidated statement

of cash flows

LM 1207(5)(c)
FRS 1.51(a)

FRS 1.10(d), 1.51(b)
FRS 1.51(0)

FRS 1.113
FRS 1.51(d), (e)

FRS 7.10
FRS 7.18(a)

FRS 7.35
FRS 7.31

FRS 7.10

FRS 7.31
FRS 7.31
FRS 7.31

FRS 7.39
FRS 7.16(b)

FRS 7.16(a)
FRS 7.16(0)
FRS 7.16(0)
FRS 7.16(a)
FRS 7.16(a)
FRS 7.39

37

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of cash flows™”
Year ended December 31, 2013

Operating activities

Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash generated from operations

Income taxes paid
Interest paid
Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Dividends received from associate

Dividends received from other equity investments

Proceeds on disposal of investments held for trading

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Disposal of subsidiary

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of investment in an associate

Purchases of investments held for trading

Purchases of patents and trademarks

Expenditure on product development

Acquisition of subsidiary

Net cash used in investing activities

Note

50

51

[N
S =
o W

1,227,651
1.042.076)
185,575

(5,553)
(42,209)
137.813

1,202
11,777
2,299
25,230

2,416
6,517

4,983
(58,675)
(31,800)
(34,023)
(3,835)
(3,600)
(3.670)

(81.179)

Group

[N
S =
o IN

854,919

(816,963)
37,956

(2,129)
(32,995)
2,832

368
4,925
349

4,500
(30,398)

(15,328)
(18,617)

(54,201)

[Alt 1]



[Alt 1]

Consolidated statement of

cash flows

Group
Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
FRS 7.10 Financing activities
FRS 7.42A Acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary (350) -
FRS 7.31 Dividends paid (5,040) (8,040)
FRS 7.17(d) Repayments of borrowings (76,777) -
FRS 7.17(e) Repayments of obligations under finance leases (1,897) (1,932)
FRS 7.17(c) Proceeds on issue of convertible loan notes 25,000 -
FRS 7.17(a) Proceeds on issue of shares 6,000 -
FRS 7.17(c) New bank loans raised - 72,265
Purchase of treasury shares (500) -
Net cash (used in) from financing activities (53,564) 62,293
Net increase in cash and bank balances 3,070 10,924
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (734) (12,320)
FRS 7.28 Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
held in foreign currencies® 6,516 662
FRS 7.45 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year@®® 7 8,852 (734)

Guidance Notes
The above illustrates the direct method of reporting cash flows from operating activities.

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Consolidated statement of e
cash flows
FRS 1.51(a) GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of cash flows™”
FRS 1.10(d), 1.51(b) Year ended December 31, 2013
FRS 1.51(c)
Group
FRS 1.113 Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
FRS 1.51(d), (&) Operating activities™
FRS 7.10
FRS 7.18(b) Profit before income tax® 117,758 24,430
Adjustments for:
Share of profit of associates (12,763) (983)
Investment revenue (3,501) (717)
Other gains and losses 43 (120) 50
Finance costs 44 37,363 32,443
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation 46 (8,493) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 29,517 19,042
Impairment loss on plant and equipment 4,130 -
Amortisation of other intangible assets 2,614 846
Impairment of goodwill 463 -
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses® 198 387
Share-based payment expense 5,872 4,718
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (4,184) (500)
Increase (decrease) in provisions 6,464 (2,320)
Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 175,318 77,396
Inventories (18,101) (30,028)
Trade and other receivables 2,321 (31,993)
Trade and other payables 26,037 22,581
Cash generated from operations 185,575 37,956
FRS 7.35 Income taxes paid (5,553) (2,129)
FRS 7.31 Interest paid (42,209) (32,995)
Net cash from operating activities 137,813 2,832
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Consolidated statement e
of cash flows
Group
FRS 7.10 Note 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
FRS 7.31 Investing activities
FRS 7.31
FRS 7.31 Interest received 1,202 368
Dividends received from associates 1,777 4,925
Dividends received from
other equity investments 2,299 349
Proceeds on disposal of investments
held for trading 25,230 -
FRS 7.39 Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale
FRS 7.16(b) investments 2,416 -
Disposal of subsidiary 50 6,517 -
FRS 7.16(a) Proceeds on disposal of property, plant
FRS 7.16(c) and equipment 4,983 4,500
FRS 7.16(c) Purchases of property, plant and equipment (58,675) (30,398)
FRS 7.16(a) Acquisition of investment in an associate (31,800) -
FRS 7.16(a) Purchases of investments held for trading (34,023) (15,328)
FRS 7.39 Purchases of patents and trademarks (3,835) (18,617)
Expenditure on product development (3,600) -
Acquisition of subsidiary 51 (3,670 -
Net cash used in investing activities (81,179) (54,201)
FRS 1.51(d), (e)
Financing activities
FRS 7.10
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary (350) -
FRS 7.42A Dividends paid (5,040) (8,040)
FRS 7.31 Repayments of borrowings (76,777) -
FRS 7.17(d) Repayments of obligations under finance leases (1,897) (1,932)
FRS 7.17(e) Proceeds on issue of convertible loan notes 25,000 -
FRS 7.17(c) Proceeds on issue of shares 6,000 -
FRS 7.17(a) New bank loans raised - 72,265
FRS 7.17(c) Purchase of treasury shares 500 -
Net cash (used in) from financing activities (53,564) 62,293
Net increase in cash and bank balances 3,070 10,924
FRS 7.28
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (734) (12,320)
FRS 7.45 Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash
held in foreign currencies® 6,516 662
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year®® 7 8,852 (734)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Consolidated statement of

cash flows

41

Guidance notes — Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

1. The above illustrates the indirect method of reporting cash flows from operating activities.

2. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management, the amount of significant cash and cash equivalent
balances held by the enterprise that are not available for use by the group. Examples include cash and cash equivalent
balances held by a subsidiary that operates in a country where exchange controls or other legal restrictions apply where
the balances are not available for general use by the parent or other subsidiaries.

3. Definition of cash and cash equivalents
An investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent only when it is a short-term, highly liquid investment that is readily
convertible to known amounts of cash, and which is subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

4. Reconciliation to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The balance reflected as profit before income tax in the consolidated cash flow statements/statements of cash flows
(indirect method) is derived from the aggregate of profit before tax from discontinued operation [$4,000 (2012: $4,560)]
(Note 46), the gain on disposal of discontinued operation [$8,493 (2012: SNil)] (Note 46) and profit before tax from
continuing operations [$105,265 (2012: $19,870)] (statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income).

5. Net foreign exchange gains or losses (if material)

If foreign exchange gains or losses recognised in profit or loss for the year arises from cash flow items other than
operating cash flows, they should be included as an adjustment to profit or loss before tax, in arriving at the operating
cash flows under the indirect method.

6. Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency exchange rates are not cash flows. However, the
effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held or due in a foreign currency is reported in the cash
flow statement in order to reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. This amount
is presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities and includes the differences, if
any, had those cash flows been reported at end of period exchange rates

7. Terminology used in the Financial Statements
The use of title “Statement of Cash Flows” of the Financial Statements is not mandatory. The reference in the Auditors’
Report should be updated accordingly.



Notes to financial statements

FRS 1.10(e) GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

FRS 1.51(a),(b),(0)

FRS 1.112(a) Notes to Financial Statements

FRS 1.113 December 31, 2013
1. General

FRS 1.138(a) The company (Registration Number 200001999A) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of business
and registered office at 1 Gaap Avenue, #01-00, GAAP Building, Singapore 099001. The company is listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

FRS 1.51(d)

The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding.
FRS 1.138(b)

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in
equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2013 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
FRS 10.17 on January 31, 2014.

FRS 1.25 Guidance notes:
When management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, the entity shall disclose those uncertainties.
An example of such a disclosure is as follows:

At the end of the reporting period, the entity’s liabilities exceeded its assets by Sxx and the entity made losses

of Sxx during the financial year. These conditions cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as

a going concern. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis because the holding
company has undertaken to provide continuing financial support to the entity to enable the entity to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.
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Notes to financial statements

FRS 1.17(b), 112(a),
1.117(@), (b)

FRS 1.16

43

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Guidance notes:

Entities are required to disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies the measurement basis (or bases)
used in preparing the financial statements and the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an under-
standing of the financial statements. An accounting policy may be significant because of the nature of the entity’s
operations even if amounts for the current and prior periods are not material.

In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed, management considers whether disclosure
would assist users in understanding how transactions, other events and conditions are reflected in the reported
financial performance and financial position. Disclosure of particular accounting policies is especially useful to users
when those policies are selected from alternatives allowed in FRS.

Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies that users of its financial statements would expect
to be disclosed for that type of entity. It is also appropriate to disclose each significant accounting policy that is

not specifically required by FRSs, but that is selected and applied in accordance with FRS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Notes on significant accounting policies should be arranged in a manner that follows the sequence of items
presented in the financial statements.

Basis of accounting — The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS").



Notes to financial statements

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

FRS 1.17(b), 112(a), Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

1.117(a)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 or value in use in
FRS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

« Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Adoption of new and revised Standards - On January 1, 2013, the group adopted all the new and revised
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS") that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company's

FRS 8.28 accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as
disclosed below:
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Notes to financial statements

45

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The group has applied the amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
retrospectively for the first time in the current year, and renamed the ‘statement of comprehensive income’ as the
‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. Under the amendments to FRS 1, the group also
grouped items of other comprehensive income into two categories in the other comprehensive income section: (a)
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Other than the above mentioned presentation changes, the
application of the amendments to FRS 1 does not result in any impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive
income and total comprehensive income.

Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The group has applied the amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities for the first time in the current year. The amendments to FRS 107 require entities to disclose information
about rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments
under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. The group has presented the effects of its offsetting
arrangements in Note 4(b) to the financial statements. Aside from the additional disclosures, the application of the
amendments has had no material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

The group has applied FRS 113 for the first time in the current year. FRS 113 establishes a single source of
guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The fair value measurement
requirements of FRS 113 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial assets for which other FRSs
require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment
purposes).

FRS 113 includes extensive disclosure requirements, although specific transitional provisions were given to entities
such that they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the Standard in comparative information
provided for periods before the initial application of the Standard. Consequently the group has not made any new
disclosures required by FRS 113 for the comparative period.

Other than the additional disclosures, the application of FRS 113 has not had any material impact on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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FRS 8.28

Guidance notes:

Refer to above Summary of key changes from the 2012 version of the Illustrative Financial Statements for list of
amendments mandatorily effective for the year ending December 31, 2013.

A sample disclosure of effects of adoption is shown below.
Guidance notes — Impact of adopting Amendments to FRS 19 (revised)

For entities that are adopting the Amendments to FRS 19, the following is a sample disclosure on the effects of its
adoption in current and prior periods.

Amendments to FRS 19 Employee Benefits (revised)

In the current year, the group has applied FRS 19 Employee Benefits (revised) and the related consequential
amendments on January 1, 2013. The amendments to FRS 19 change the accounting for defined benefit plans
and termination benefits. The most significant change relates to the accounting for changes in defined benefit
obligations and plan assets. The amendments require the recognition of changes in defined benefit obligations
and in fair value of plan assets when they occur, and hence eliminate the ‘corridor approach’ permitted under
the previous version of FRS 19 and accelerate the recognition of past service costs. The amendments require all
actuarial gains and losses to be recognised immediately through other comprehensive income in order for the net
pension asset or liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position to reflect the full value of
the plan deficit or surplus. Furthermore, the interest cost and expected return on plan assets used in the previous
version of FRS 19 are replaced with a ‘net interest” amount under FRS 19 (revised), which is calculated by applying
the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. These changes have had an impact on the amounts
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income in prior years. In addition, FRS 19 (revised) introduces
certain changes in the presentation of the defined benefit cost including more extensive disclosures.
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FRS 8.28(f)(ii)

a7

Group
December December
31, 2013 31,2012
$°000 $'000
Impact on profit (loss) for the year
(Increase) Decrease in administration expense XXXX XXXX
(Increase) Decrease in income tax expenses XXXX XXXX
Increase (Decrease) in profit after income tax XXXX XXXX
(continuing operations)
Impact on other comprehensive income for the year — items that will not
be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
(Increase) Decrease in remeasurement of defined benefit obligation XXXX XXXX
(Increase) Decrease in income tax relating to items of other comprehensive XXXX XXXX
income
Increase (Decrease) in total comprehensive income for the year XXXX XXXX
Decrease in profit for the year attributable to
Owners of the company XXXX XXXX
Non-controlling interests XXXX XXXX
XXXX XXXX
Increase (decrease) in total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Owners of the company XXXX XXXX
Non-controlling interests XXXX XXXX
XXXX XXXX
2013 2012
cents cents
Increase (Decrease) in basic earnings per share
- Continuing and discontinued operation XXX XXX
- Continuing operation XXX XXX
Increase (Decrease) in diluted earnings per share
- Continuing and discontinued operation XXX XXX
- Continuing operation XXX XXX

If there is no impact on earnings per share, to include a statement to indicate this fact e.q.:

The change in accounting policy has no impact on the earnings per share as reported in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive Income.
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FRS 8.28(f)(i) Guidance notes — Impact of adopting Amendments to FRS 19 (revised) (cont’'d)
Group Company.

Impact on assets, liabilities and As at January As at As at January As at
equity as at January 1, 2012 1, 2012 as FRS 19 January 1,2012 as FRS 19 January
of the application of the previously adjust- 1,2012 as previously adjust- 11,2012 as
amendments to FRS 19 (revised) reported ments restated reported ments restated

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Retirement benefit obligation XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Deferred tax liabilities XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Effect on net assets XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Effect on retained earnings m % w m w m
Total effect on equity @ E @ @ E @

Group Company

Impact on assets, liabilities and As at December As at As at December As at
equity as at December 31, 2012 31,2012 as FRS 19 December 31, 2012 as FRS 19 December
of the application of the previously adjust- 31,2012 as  previously adjust- 31, 2012 as
amendments to FRS 19 (revised) reported ments restated reported ments restated

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Retirement benefit obligation XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Deferred tax liabilities XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Effect on net assets XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX XXXX
Effect on retained earnings @ W % @ % %
Total effect on equity @ @ E E E @

Group Company
December December
31,2013 31,2013
5000 5000

Impact on assets, liabilities and equity as at December 31, 2013 of

the application of the amendments to FRS 19 (revised)

Decrease in retirement benefit obligation XXXX XXXX
Increase in deferred tax liabilities XXXX XXXX
Increase in net assets XXXX XXXX
— —
Increase in retained earnings XXXX XXXX
— —
Increase in equity XXXX XXXX
— —
FRS 1.40A Guidance notes - Presentation of 3 Statement of Financial Position

Where it is assessed that the retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a material effect on the
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period, a third year statement
of financial position should be presented. For the purposes of these illustrative financial statements, a third year
statement of financial position has not been presented to reflect the effects of the restatement arising from the
revised FRS 19.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS
that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

Guidance notes:

The sample list of FRSs issued but not effective yet as of October 31, 2013 is listed in Appendix A. The potential
impact of any new or revised FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS after October 31, 2013 but before the issue
of the financial statements should also be considered and disclosed.

It is not required to list all FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that are issued but not effective at date of
authorisation of financial statements. Only those relevant to the entity should be indicated.

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in future
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company in the period
of their initial adoption except for the following:

Guidance notes:

See Appendix A for sample disclosures on FRSs that are issued but not effective at the date of authorisation of
the financial statements, but may have a material impact on the financial statements in the period of their initial
adoption.

Basis of consolidation - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date

of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the group.

Allintra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. The interest of
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combina-
tion) either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
FRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Changes in the group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the company.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and

(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner
as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are carried at cost
less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations - Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values
of assets given, liabilities incurred by the group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued
by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values

are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below).
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consid-
eration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement

is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or
FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity
are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the group attains control) and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement
of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment awards transactions of the
acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the group obtains complete infor-
mation about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date —and is subject to a maximum of one
year from acquisition date.

The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.

The policy described above is applied to all business combinations that take place on or after January 1, 2010.

Financial instrument - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s statement of
financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised
on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value through
profit or loss”.

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established
by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit
or loss”, “held-to-maturity investments”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial

recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

- It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

- Oninitial recognition, it is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- Itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

« Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

- The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

- It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned

on the financial asset and is included in ‘other gains and losses’ line in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

Held-to-maturity investments

Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the group has a positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Subsequent to initial measurement, held-
to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with
revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares and debt securities held by the group are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair
value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated
using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recog-
nised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclas-
sified to profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
group’s right to receive payments is established. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting
period. The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost
of the available-for-sale monetary asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate method,
except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment

at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
- Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
« It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the group'’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recog-
nised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are

not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserves. In respect
of available-for sale debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of
the impairment loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities “at fair value through profit or loss” or other financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

- It has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

- Itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

- Itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recog-
nition if:

« Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

« On initial recognition, the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally
on that basis; or

« It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
Note 4.

Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL,
subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision in accordance
with FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or they expire.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an equity
component. The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date of issue, the fair value

of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible
instrument. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished upon conversion or
at the instrument’s maturity date. The equity component is determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity,
net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and
foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of
derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The group designates
certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments

(fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm
commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are
presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives
when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of
the hybrid instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected to
be realised or settled within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current
liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and
non-derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net
investments in foreign operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as
cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the group documents whether
the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of the hedged item.

Note 13 contain details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in
the hedging reserve in other comprehensive income are also detailed in Note 39.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or
loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged
risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk are recognised in the line of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income relating
to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss from that date.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as part of other gains and losses.

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in

the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss in the same line of the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item. However, when the forecast transaction that is

hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously
accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset

or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in
profit or loss, such gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss, or transferred from equity and included in the
initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability as described above. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the “other gains and losses” line of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign currency
translation reserve are reclassified in profit or loss in the same way as exchange differences relating to the foreign
operation as described in the accounting policy for foreign currency transactions and translation below.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Construction contracts - Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative
to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be
measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses
in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as amounts

due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as amounts due to construction contracts customers.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under trade and other receivables.

Leases - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased
asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the
lease income.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

The group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy
on borrowing costs (see below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

Non-current assets held for sale - Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether
the group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment - Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts,
being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for

the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to

the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such
land and buildings is charged to profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the property
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not
yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under
construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Leasehold land and buildings — over the terms of lease which are from 2% to 5%
Plant and equipment — 10% to 33%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets
or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the
properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluation
reserve to retained earnings except when an asset is derecognised.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Investment property - Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation, including property under construction for such purposes, is measured initially at its cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Guidance Notes:

FRS 40 allows a policy choice of accounting for investment property using either fair value model (as described
above) or the cost model which is similar to the accounting for property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Goodwill - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is
acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually,

or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwiill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of

the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwiill is included in
the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation (where they have finite
useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised. Each period, the useful lives of
such assets are reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful
life assessment for the asset. Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy below.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the intangible asset; and

The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill. The
cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired
separately.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill - At the end of each reporting period,
the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,

the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Associates - An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted

for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for
post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of
individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate) are not recognised,
unless the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The
goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the
investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Interests in joint ventures - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating
policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Where a group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the group’s share of jointly
controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are recognised in the financial statements
of the relevant entity and classified according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect

of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the
group’s share of the output of jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the group and
their amount can be measured reliably.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an
interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The group reports its interests in jointly controlled entities using
proportionate consolidation, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted
for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The group’s share of the

assets, liabilities, income and expenses of jointly controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the
consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary (see above).

Where the group transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are eliminated to the
extent of the group’s interest in the joint venture.

Provisions - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.



Notes to financial statements

Guidance notes — Accounting policies for specific types of provisions
Include where applicable. For example:-

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from it.

Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

Warranties

Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the directors’ best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the group’s obligation.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Share-based payments - The group issues equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payments to certain
employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant.
Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in Note
33. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will eventually vest. At the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-
settled employee benefits reserve.

The policy described above is applied to all equity-settled share-based payments that were granted after November
22, 2003 that vested after January 1, 2006. No amount has been recognised in the financial statements in respect
of other equity-settled share-based payments.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or
the counterparty renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured
initially at the fair of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the date of
settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for
the year.

Government grants - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. The benefit of a government
loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the difference between
proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. Government grants
whose primary condition is that the group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs
for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.



Notes to financial statements

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries
FRS 18.35(a)

Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2013

FRS 18.14(a) 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Revenue recognition - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue
is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

- The group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

- The group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership
nor effective control over the goods sold;

« The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

FRS 18.20 « The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract.
The stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:

Installation fees are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the installation, determined as the
proportion of the total time expected to install that has elapsed at the end of the reporting period;

Servicing fees included in the price of products sold are recognised by reference to the proportion of the total

cost of providing the servicing for the product sold, taking into account historical trends in the number of
services actually provided on past goods sold; and

« Revenue from time and material contracts is recognised at the contractual rates as labour hours are delivered
and direct expenses are incurred.

Income from providing financial guarantee is recognised in profit or loss over the guarantee period on a straight
line basis.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the group’s accounting policy on
construction contracts (see above).

FRS 18.30(a) Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable.

FRS 18.30(c) Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Royalties

Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.
Royalties determined on a time basis are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the agreement.
Royalty arrangements that are based on production, sales and other measures are recognised by reference to the
underlying arrangement.

Rental income
The group's policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described above.

Borrowing costs - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit obligations - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments
to defined contribution plans where the group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit
Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return
on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or
credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in
other comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or
loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated
by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined
benefit costs are categorised as follows:

« Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and
settlements);

» Net interest expense or income; and

» Remeasurement.

The group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item [‘employee
benefits expense'/others (please specify)]. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represents the actual deficit or
surplus in the group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present
value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions
to the plan.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer
of the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Employee leave entitlement - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Income tax - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The
group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted in countries where the company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred

tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end

of the reporting period. Except for investment properties measured using the fair value model, the measurement
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which

the group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. The group
has not rebutted the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment properties will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which

case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

Foreign currency transactions and translation - The individual financial statements of each group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its
functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position of
the company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the company and the presen-
tation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign curren-
cies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are
FRS 21.32 included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
FRS 21.28, 30 of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such
non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
FRS 23.6(e) foreign currency borrowings.

Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks are described in
the hedge accounting policies above.

FRS 21.39 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign
currency translation reserve.

FRS 21.48 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the group'’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
FRS 21.48A disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a
FRS 21.48B jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that

includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable
to the group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to
non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled entities that do
not result in the group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign currency
translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows - Cash and cash equivalents in the statement
of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Guidance notes:

The following are examples of the types of disclosures that might be required in this area. The matters disclosed will be
dictated by the circumstances of the individual entity, and by the significance of judgements and estimates made to the
results and financial position of the entity.

Instead of disclosing this information in a separate note, it may be more appropriate to include such disclosures in the
relevant asset and liability notes, or as part of the relevant accounting policy disclosures.

In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that management
has made in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Note 47 to the financial statements describe the expenditure required in the year for rectification work to be
carried out on goods supplied to one of the group’s major customers. These goods were delivered to the customer
in the months of January to July 2013, and shortly thereafter the defects were identified by the customer.
Following negotiations, a schedule of works was agreed, which will involve expenditure by the group until 2014.
In the light of the problems identified, management was required to consider whether it was appropriate to
recognise the revenue from these transactions of $102 million in the current year, in line with the group’s general
policy of recognising revenue when goods are delivered, or whether it was more appropriate to defer recognition
until the rectification work was complete.

In making its judgement, management considered the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue from the
sale of goods, set out in FRS 18 Revenue and, in particular, whether the group had transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. Following the detailed quantification of the group'’s
liability in respect of rectification work, and the agreed limitation on the customer’s ability to require further work
or to require replacement of the goods, management is satisfied that the significant risks and rewards have been
transferred and that recognition of the revenue in the current year is appropriate, in conjunction with recognition
of an appropriate provision for the rectification costs.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, it is the group’s policy to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets. Capitalisation of the borrowing
costs relating to construction of the group’s premises in Malaysia was suspended in 2012, while the development
was delayed as management reconsidered its detailed plans. Capitalisation of borrowing costs recommenced in
2013 ~ following the finalisation of revised plans, and resumption of the activities necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use. Borrowing costs have been capitalised from February 2013, as management is of the view
that although construction of the premises was not restarted until May 2013, the technical and administrative
work associated with the project has recommenced in February 2013.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the management has reviewed the group’s investment property
portfolio and concluded that, while certain of the group’s investment properties are depreciable, they are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the group’s deferred taxation
on investment properties, the management has determined that the presumption that investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered through sale is not rebutted.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Guidance notes:

Where applicable, corresponding information for the previous financial year should also be disclosed.

Recoverability of internally-generated intangible asset

During the year, management reconsidered the recoverability of its internally-generated intangible asset, which
is included in its statement of financial position at December 31, 2013 at $3.24 million (2012: $Nil). The project
continues to progress in a very satisfactory manner, and customer reaction has reconfirmed management’s
previous estimates of anticipated revenues from the project. However, increased competitor activity has caused
management to reconsider its assumptions regarding future market shares and anticipated margins on these
products. Detailed sensitivity analysis has been carried out and management is confident that the carrying
amount of the asset will be recovered in full, even if returns are reduced. This situation will be closely monitored,
and adjustments will be made in future periods, if future market activity indicates that such adjustments are
appropriate.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present
value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was $4.04 million (2012: $2.54 million)
after an impairment loss of $0.46 million (2012: SNil) was recognised during the financial year. Details of the
impairment loss calculation are provided in Note 18 to the financial statements.
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As described in Note 2, the group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of
each annual reporting period. During the financial year, management determined that the useful life of certain items
of equipment should be shortened, due to developments in technology.

The financial effect of this reassessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their estimated useful lives,
is to increase the consolidated depreciation expense in the current financial year and for the next 3 years, by the
following amounts:

$'000
2013 9
2014 7
2015 4
2016 2

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the group's assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The board of
directors of the company has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the
company, to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The valuation committee works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer reports the valuation committee’s findings
to the board of directors of the company every quarter to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the
assets and liabilities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabili-
ties are disclosed in notes 4, 16 and 17.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management

Guidance Notes — Categories of financial instruments

FRS 107.8
The categories of financial assets and financial liabilities can be presented in the statement of financial position or in the
notes as shown below.
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000  $'000
Financial Assets
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
FRS 107.8(a) - Held for trading 11,988 11,125 - -
FRS 107.8(a) - Designated as at FVTPL (see below) 1,018 1,000 - -
Derivative instruments
- in designated hedge accounting relationships 4,924 2,938 - -
- not designated in hedge accounting relationships 114 - - -
FRS 107.8(b) Held-to-maturity investments 27,548 21,299 - -
FRS 107.8(c) Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 308,325 278,994 91,445 56,542
FRS 107.8(d) Available-for-sale financial assets 20,232 23,215 - -
Financial Liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
FRS 107.8(e) - Held for trading - - - -
FRS 107.8(e) - Designated as at FVTPL (see below) - - - -
Derivative instruments not designated in
hedge accounting relationships 273 - - -
FRS 107.8(f) Amortised cost 668,785 664,560 27,371 4,534
Financial guarantee contracts 24 18 - -
Contingent consideration for a business combination 75 - - -
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FRS 107.10(b)

Guidance notes — Loans and receivables and financial liabilities at FVTPL

Information on loans and receivables and financial liabilities at FVTPL is required only if the entity has such catego-

ries of financial instruments. The information may be presented as follows:

(i) Loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Carrying amount of loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL XX XX XX XX
Cumulative changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk XX XX XX XX
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk
recognised during the period XX XX XX XX
At the end of the reporting period, there are no significant concentrations of credit risk.
(i) Credit derivatives over loans and receivables at fair value
Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $’000 $'000 $'000
Opening fair value XX XX XX XX
Realised during the period XX XX XX XX
Change in fair value XX XX XX XX
Closing fair value XX XX XX XX

Cumulative fair value changes in credit derivatives over loans and receivables at fair value since the loan or

receivable was designated amount to $xx (2012: $xx)

(iii) Financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000  $'000
Cumulative changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk XX XX XX XX
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk recognised
during the period. XX XX XX XX
(iv) Difference between carrying amount and maturity amount
Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000  $'000
Financial liabilities at fair value XX XX XX XX
Amount payable at maturity XX XX XX XX
2 XX X
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Group

2013 ($'000)

Financial assets

@ (b) @©=@-b @ (e)=(0
Related amounts not set off in the +(d)
statement of financial position
Type of financial Gross Gross amounts Net amounts Financial instruments Cash Net
asset amounts of of recognised of financial collateral amount
recognised financial liabilities assets received
financial set off in the presented in
asset statement of the statement
financial position of financial
position
Interest rate swaps 3,914 - 3,914 - (14) 3,900
Forward foreign 1,124 - 1,124 (273) - 851
exchange
contracts
Trade receivables 7,045 (2,045) 5,000 - - 5,000
Total 12,083 (2,045) 10,038 (273) (14) 9,751
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Financial liabilities

@ (b) @=@-®b @ (e)=(0
Related amounts not set off in the + (d)
statement of financial position
Type of financial liability Gross Gross amounts Net amounts Financial Cash Net
amounts of of recognised of financial instruments collateral amount
recognised financial assets liabilities pledged
financial set off in the presented in
liabilities statement of the statement
financial position of financial
position
Forward foreign 273 - 273 (273) - -
exchange contracts
Trade payables 2,045 (2,045) - - - -
Total 2,318 (2,045) 273 (273) - -
2012 ($'000)
Financial assets
@ (b) @©=@-Mb (@) =
Related amounts not set off in the + (d)
statement of financial position
Type of financial Gross Gross amounts Net amounts of Financial Cash Net amount
asset amounts of of recognised financial assets instruments collateral
recognised  financial liabilities  presented in the received
financial set off in the statement of
asset statement of financial position
financial position
Forward foreign 2,938 - 2,938 - (38) 2,900
exchange
contracts
Total 2,938 - 2,938 - (38) 2,900

lllustrative Financial Statements 2013 82



Notes to financial statements

FRS 107.13F

FRS 107.B51, B52

83

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont'd)

In reconciling the ‘Net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the statement of financial
position’ to the line item amounts presented in the statement of financial position, the above amounts represent
only those which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements. The
residual amounts relate to those that are not in scope of the offsetting disclosures.

The company does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements or similar netting agreements.

Guidance notes:

The Amendment to FRS 107 Disclosure - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities require entities to
disclose information about rights of set-off and related arrangements (such as collateral posting requirements) for
financial instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether
they are set off in accordance with paragraph 42 of FRS 32.

If the disclosures required under the Amendment to FRS 107 Disclosure - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities are disclosed in more than one note to the financial statements, the entity shall cross-refer between
those notes.

The disclosures required by FRS 107:13C(a)-(e) may be grouped by type of financial instrument or transaction (for
example, derivatives, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements or securities borrowing and securities lending
agreements), or alternatively by counterparty. If an entity provides the required information by counterparty, the
entity is not required to identify the counterparties by name. However, designation of counterparties (Counterparty
A, Counterparty B, Counterparty C, etc) shall remain consistent from year to year for the years presented to
maintain comparability. Qualitative disclosures shall be considered so that further information can be given about
the types of counterparties. When disclosure of the amounts in paragraph 13C(c)—(e) is provided by counterparty,
amounts that are individually significant in terms of total counterparty amounts shall be separately disclosed and
the remaining individually insignificant counterparty amounts shall be aggregated into one line item.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont'd)

FRS 107.31, 32

FRS 107.33
The group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out the group’s overall business
strategies and its risk management philosophy. The group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of the group. The Board of Directors provides written
principles for overall financial risk management and written policies covering specific areas, such as market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest rate
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess cash. Such written policies are reviewed annually
by the Board of Directors and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the group'’s policy guidelines are
complied with. Risk management is carried out by the Treasury Department under the policies approved by the
Board of Directors.

The group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign
currency risk, including:

- Forward exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risks arising from trade receivables and trade payables,
and firm commitments to buy or sell goods; and
- Interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

FRS 107.33(0)

FRS 107.40(c) There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

FRS 107.41 Guidance notes — Sensitivity analysis

If the entity prepares a sensitivity analysis such as value-at-risk that reflects interdependencies between risk variables (e.g.
interest rates and exchange rates) and uses it to manage financial risks, it may use that value-at-risk sensitivity analysis in
FRS 107.B19 place of the analysis specified in FRS 107.40 which are as illustrated in the following sections for each type of market risk.

In determining what a reasonably possible change in the relevant risk variable is for sensitivity analysis, an entity shall

consider:

a. The economic environments in which it operates. This shall not include remote or “worst case” scenarios or
“stress test”; and

b. The effects of changes reasonably possible over the period until the entity next presents these disclosures
(usually the next annual reporting period).
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont'd)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

The group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including the United States dollars, Euro and Japanese
Yen and therefore is exposed to foreign exchange risk.

Guidance Notes — Information on foreign currency balances

The table below provides an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to foreign exchange risks arising from
monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management
personnel.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated
in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies are as follows:

Group Company
Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000  $'000 §'000  $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 $'000
US dollars 54,111 32,998 61,392 84,313 1,332 1,824 37,394 29,226
Euro 13,669 10,643 4,507 4,062 560 485 - -
Japanese Yen 530 842 4,450 5,521 - - - -

Companies in the group use forward contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency risk in the local
reporting currency. The Treasury Department is responsible for hedging the net position in each borrowing
currency.

The company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency trans-
lation risk. The group does not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument
for the purpose of hedging the translation of its foreign operations.

Further details on the forward exchange derivative hedging instruments are found in Note 13 to the financial
statements.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Guidance notes — Quantitative data disclosures

If the quantitative data disclosed as at the reporting date are unrepresentative of an entity’s exposure to risk during the
period, an entity shall provide further information that is representative.

To meet this requirement, an entity might disclose the highest, lowest and average amount of risk to which it was
exposed during the period. For example, if an entity typically has a large exposure to a particular currency, but at year-end
unwinds the position, the entity might disclose a graph that shows the exposure at various times during the period, or
disclose the highest, lowest and average exposures.

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against
the functional currency of each group entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the group where they gave
rise to an impact on the group'’s profit or loss and/or equity.

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or loss
and other equity will increase (decrease) by:

US Dollar impact Euro impact Japanese Yen impact
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Profit or loss (834) (1,792) (i) 134 257 (i) (53) (159) (i)
Other equity (33) (47) (i) 70 69 (i) - -
Company
Profit or loss (1,312) (960) (iii) 12 31 (i) - -
Other equity - - - - - -
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’'d)

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or
loss and other equity will increase (decrease) by:

US Dollar impact Euro impact Japanese Yen impact
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
Profit or loss 834 1,792 (i) (134) (257) (i) 53 159 (i)
Other equity 33 47 (i) (70) (69) (ii) - .
Company
Profit or loss 1,312 960 (iii) (12) (31) ) - -
Other equity - - - - - -

(i) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables and payables at the end of the reporting
period in the group.

(i) This is mainly as a result of the changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges.

(iii) This is mainly attributable to the exposure to outstanding US dollar inter-company receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

The group's sensitivity to foreign currency has decreased during the current year mainly due to the disposal of US

dollar investments and the reduction in US dollar sales in the last quarter of the financial year which has resulted in

lower US dollar denominated trade receivables.

Guidance notes — Sensitivity analyses

When the sensitivity analyses disclosed in accordance with FRS 107.40 or 41 are unrepresentative of a risk inherent
in a financial instrument (for example because the year-end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year), the entity shall disclose that fact and the reason it believes the sensitivity analyses are unrepresentative. An
example of such a disclosure may be as follows:

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year. US dollar denominated sales are seasonal with
lower sales volume in the last quarter of the financial year, which results in a reduction in US dollar receivables at
the end of the reporting period.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont'd)

(i) Interest rate risk management

Summary quantitative data of the group'’s interest-bearing financial instruments can be found in section (v) of

this Note. The group's policy is to maintain cash equivalents and borrowings in fixed rate instruments. The group
sometimes borrows at variable rates and uses interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of future interest payments,
which have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. The interest rate swaps
allow the group to raise long-term borrowings at floating rates and swap them into fixed rates that are lower

than those available if the group borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, the group agrees
with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate
interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts. Further details of the interest
rate swaps can be found in Note 13 to the financial statements.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives
and non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the
beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of instruments that
have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the group's:

« Profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would increase/decrease by $93,000 (2012: decrease/increase by
$43,000). This is mainly attributable to the group's exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings;
and

« Other equity reserves would increase/decrease by $19,000 (2012: decrease/increase by $12,000) mainly as a
result of the changes in the fair value of available-for-sale fixed rate instruments.

The group's sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the current period mainly due to the reduction in
variable rate debt instruments and the increase in interest rate swaps.

The company's profit and loss and equity are not affected by the changes in interest rates as the interest-bearing
instruments carry fixed interest and are measured as amortised cost.

(iii) Equity price risk management

The group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments classified as held-for-trading and available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The group does not
actively trade available-for-sale investments.

Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 11, 23 and 24 to the financial statements.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont'd)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the
reporting period.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the inputs to the valuation model had been 10% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant:

+ The group's net profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would have been unaffected as the equity
investments are classified as available-for-sale and no investments were disposed of or impaired; and
+ The group's asset revaluation reserves would decrease/increase by $7,000 (2012: decrease/increase by $8,000).

In respect of held-for-trading equity investments, if equity prices had been 10% higher/lower:
+ The group's net profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would decrease/increase by $5,000 (2012:
decrease/increase by $7,000).

The group's sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior year.

(iv) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to the group. The group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The group's
exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of trans-
actions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by the counterparty
limits that are reviewed and approved by the risk management committee annually.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate,
credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased.

The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counter-
parties having similar characteristics. The group defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are
related entities. Concentration of credit risk did not exceed 5% of gross monetary assets at any time during the

year. The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

The maximum amount the group could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contract in Note 28, if
the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee is $2 million (2012: $1.6 million).
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances for

losses, and the exposure to defaults from financial guarantees above, represents the group's maximum exposure to
credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Guidance notes — Information of credit risk provided to key management

The above disclosure is not required for financial instruments whose carrying amount best represents the maximum
exposure to credit risk.

Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 8.

Guidance notes - Information of credit risk provided to key management
If applicable:

The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to key management is as follows:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
By geographical areas

Singapore XX XX XX XX
Europe XX XX XX XX
United States XX XX XX XX

QU R G-

By customer types

Multi-national corporations XX XX XX XX
Individuals XX XX XX XX
Others XX XX XX XX

e e

lllustrative Financial Statements 2013 90



Notes to financial statements

FRS 107.33,39(c)

FRS 107.34(a)

FRS 107.34,35
FRS 107.39(a)

91

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’'d)

(v) Liquidity risk management

The group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance their
activities. The Treasury Department finances their liquidity through internally generated cash flows and minimises
liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available. Undrawn facilities are disclosed in Note 27.

Guidance Notes:

The tables below include the weighted average effective interest rate and reconciliations to the carrying amounts
in the statement of financial position as an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to interest rates
at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel. An entity
must use its judgement to determine an appropriate number of time bands. For a non-financial institution, an

7

appropriate time band could be: “On demand or within 1 year”, “Within 2 to 5 years” and “After 5 years”.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the group and company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the
maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability on the statement of financial
position.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Weighted

average On

effective  demand or

interest within 1 Within 2 After 5

Group rate year to 5 years years Adjustment Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000

2013
Non-interest bearing - 191,405 75 - - 191,480
Finance lease liability 8.5 1,655 1,014 - (276) 2,393
(fixed rate)
Variable interest rate 7.9 96,907 431,483 - (150,000) 378,390
instruments
Fixed interest rate 7.0 - 126,597 - (30,000) 96,597
instruments
Financial guarantee - 2,000 - - (1,976) 24
contracts

291,967 559,169 - (182,252) 668,884
2012
Non-interest bearing - 134,394 - - - 134,394
Finance lease liability 8.8 2,245 1,365 - (883) 2,727
(fixed rate)
Variable interest rate 8.2 88,686 522,483 - (156,000) 455,169
instruments
Fixed interest rate 8.0 - 104,270 - (32,000) 72,270
instruments
Financial guarantee - 1,600 - - (1,582) 18
contracts

226,925 628,118 - (190,465) 664,578

FRS 107.B11C(0) The maximum amount that the group could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contract in Note 28,

if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee, is $2 million (2012: $1.6 million).
The earliest period that the guarantee could be called is within 1 year (2012: 1 year) from the end of the reporting

period. As mentioned in Note 4(iv), the group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Weighted
average
effective  On demand
interest or within 1 Within 2 to After 5

Company rate year 5 years years Adjustment Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2013
Non-interest bearing - 3,044 - - - 3,044
Fixed interest rate 7.0 - 29,327 - (5,000) 24,327
instruments

3,044 29,327 - (5,000) 27,371
2012
Non-interest bearing - 4,534 - - - 4,534

4,534 - - - 4,534

Guidance notes:
FRS 107 clarifies the following:

Liquidity risk disclosures apply only to financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. This
excludes financial liabilities that are settled by the entity by delivering its own equity instruments or non-financial assets.

An entity has to disclose summary quantitative data about its exposure to liquidity risk on the basis of information
provided internally to key management personnel, and explain how the data is determined.

If outflows of cash (or another financial asset) included in those data could either occur significantly earlier than indicated
in the data, or for significantly different amounts from those indicated in the data, an entity has to state the fact and
provide quantitative information that enables users to evaluate the extent of risk, unless information is included in the
liquidity risk management or maturity analysis disclosures above.

For issued financial guarantee contracts, an entity should disclose the maximum amount of guarantee in the contractual
maturity analysis, allocated to the earliest period in which it could be called.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

FRS 107.B11E Non-derivative financial assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The inclusion of information
on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the group’s liquidity risk management as the
group’s liquidity risk is managed on a net asset and liability basis. The tables below have been drawn up based

on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those
assets except where the group and the company anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period. The
adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity
analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial asset on the statement of financial position.

Weighted
average On demand
effective or within 1 Within2to  After 5
Group interest rate year 5 years years Adjustment  Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2013
Non-interest bearing - 127,916 - - - 127,916
Finance lease receivables 1.5 72,526 120,875 - (23,751) 169,650
(fixed rate)
Variable interest rate - 6,027 - - - 6,027
instruments
Fixed interest rate 4.5 31,000 6,000 5,190 (745) 41,445
instruments

237,469 126,875 5,190 (24,496) 345,038
2012
Non-interest bearing - 123,656 - - - 123,656
Finance lease receivables 12.0 65,948 109,913 - (21,698) 154,163
(fixed rate)
Variable interest rate - 604 - - - 604
instruments
Fixed interest rate 5.1 20,000 6,000 5,486 (895) 30,591
instruments

210,208 115,913 5,486 (22,593) 309,014
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Weighted
average On
effective demand
interest or within Within 2 After 5

Company rate 1 year to 5 years years Adjustment Total
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2013

Non-interest bearing - 91,445 - - - 91,445

2012

Non-interest bearing - 56,542 - - - 56,542

Guidance notes:

There is an apparent conflict between FRS 107 which requires the disclosure of a liquidity analysis for all financial
liabilities and FRS 1.65 which states that ‘FRS 107 requires disclosure of the maturity dates of financial assets and
financial liabilities” [emphasis added]. An entity is not required to disclose a maturity analysis for financial assets

in all cases. The minimum required disclosure is for a maturity analysis for financial liabilities only. However, a
maturity analysis shall be disclosed for financial assets if it holds financial assets for managing liquidity risk and that
information is necessary to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity
risk.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)
Derivative financial instruments

The following table details the liquidity analysis for derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted net cash inflows/(outflows) on the derivative instrument that settle on a net basis
and the undiscounted gross inflows and (outflows) on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When

the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the
projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the reporting period.

On demand or  Within 2 to After 5
Group within 1 year 5 years years
$'000 $'000 $'000
2013
Net settled:
Interest rate swaps 3,914 - -
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts 851 - -
4,765 - -
2012
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts 2,938 - -
2,938 - -

Guidance notes:

1. Derivatives
For derivatives, an entity should disclose a quantitative maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities that shows

remaining contractual maturities if the contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of
the cash flows. For example, this would be the case for:

(a) An interest rate swap with a remaining maturity of five years in a cash flow hedge of a variable rate financial
asset or liability.
(b) All loan commitments.

For embedded derivatives, an entity should not separate it from the hybrid financial instrument. For such an
instrument, the entity should disclose the contractual maturity of the entire instrument.

2. Alternative presentation by narration

The group's derivative financial instruments comprise of interest rate swaps amounting to $3.9 million (2012: SNil)
with contracted net cash inflows due within 1 year, and foreign exchange forward contracts amounting to $0.8
million (2012: $3 million) with contracted gross cash flows due within 1 year (2012: due within 1 year).
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)
(vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities in the following manner:
Fair value of the group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis
FRS 113.93(a), (b), Some of the group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
(d), (@), (i) period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined.

Financial Fair value as at ($'000) Fair value Valuation Significant Relationship of

assets/ hierarchy | technique(s) and key | unobservable | unobservable

financial input(s) input(s) inputs to fair
liab value

Held-for-trading investments (see note 11)

1) Equity 11,988 - 11,125 - Level1 Quoted bid prices in an N/A N/A
investments active market.

Derivative financial instruments (see note 13)

2) Foreign 1,124 (273) 2,938 - Level2 Discounted cash flow. N/A N/A
currency Future cash flows are
forward estimated based on
contracts forward exchange

rates (from observable
forward exchange

rates at the end of the
reporting period) and
contract forward rates,
discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.

3) Interest rate 3,914 - - - Level 2 Discounted cash flow. N/A N/A

swaps Future cash flows are
estimated based on
forward interest rates
(from observable yield
curves at the end of the
reporting period) and
contract interest rates,
discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of
various counterparties.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Financial Fair value as at ($'000) Fair value

assets/ hierarchy

Available-for-sale investments (see note 23)

Valuation
technique(s)
and key
input(s)

Significant

unobservable
input(s)

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair

value

4) Listed 8,303 - 8,221 - Level1 Quoted bid N/A N/A
redeemable prices in an
notes active market.

5) Listed equity 10,407 - 13,494 - Level1 Quoted bid N/A N/A
shares prices in an

active market.

6) Private 1,010 - 1,000 - level3 Discounted Long-term revenue The higher the
equity invest- cash flow growth rates, revenue growth
ments taking into account rate, the higher
(note 1) management’s the fair value.

experience and

knowledge of market

conditions of the

specific industries,

ranging from 4.9 to

5.5 % per annum

(2012: 48-54%

per annum).

Long-term pre-tax The higher the
operating margin pre-tax operating
taking into account margin, the
management’s higher the fair
experience and value.
knowledge of market

conditions of the

specific industries,

ranging from 5 - 12

% per annum (2012:

5-10 % per annum).

Weighted average The higher
cost of capital, the weighted
determined using a average cost of
Capital Asset Pricing capital, the lower
Model, ranging from the fair value.
11.9-12.5 % per

annum (2012: 11.2 —

12.1 % per annum).

Discount for lack The higher the
of marketability, discount, the
determined by lower the fair
reference to the share  value.

price of listed entities

in similar industries,

ranging from 5 - 20

% per annum (2012:

4-19 % per annum).

7) Unquoted 512 - 500 - Level 2 Discounted N/A N/A
corporate cash flow
bond
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Financial Fair value as at ($'000) Fair value Valuation Significant Relationship of

assets/ hierarchy | technique(s) | unobservable input(s) unobservable
financial " and key inputs to fair
liab input(s) value

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 24)

8) Venture 1,018 - 1,000 - Level 3 Discounted Long-term revenue The higher the
capital cash flow growth rates, taking into  revenue growth
invesments account management's rate, the higher
(note 2) experience and the fair value.

knowledge of market
conditions of the specific
industries, ranging from
5.5-6.1 % per annum
(2012:5.5-6.1 % per

annum).

Long-term pre-tax The higher the
operating margin pre-tax operating
taking into account margin, the
management'’s higher the fair
experience and value.

knowledge of market
conditions of the specific
industries, ranging of 4.3
% per annum (2012: 4.3
% per annum).

Weighted average cost of ~ The higher the
capital, determined using ~ weighted average
a Capital Asset Pricing cost of capital,
Model, ranging from the lower the fair
13.1-14.5 % per annum  value.
(2012:12.3 = 13.1 % per

annum).

Discount for lack of The higher the
marketability, determined  discount, the
by reference to the share  lower the fair
price of listed entities in value.

similar industries, ranging

from 7 — 12 % per

annum (2012: 7-12 %

per annum).

Others - contingent consideration in a business combination (see note 51)

9) Contingent - 75 - - Level 3 Discounted Discount rate of 13 % per  The higher the
consider- cash flow annum discount rate,
ation the lower the fair
(note 3) value.

Probability-adjusted The higher the
revenues and profits, with  estimates of
a range from $100,000 revenue and

to $150,000 and a range  profit, the higher
from $60,000 to $90,000 the fair value.
respectively.

99



Notes to financial statements

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

FRS 113.93(h)(ii) Note 1 : If the above unobservable inputs to the valuation model were 10% higher/lower while all the other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investment would decrease/increase by $7,000 (2012: decrease/increase by $8,000).
Note 2 : If the above unobservable inputs to the valuation model were 10% higher/lower while all the other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investment would decrease/increase by $2,000 (2012: decrease/increase by $1,000).
Note 3 - If the discount rate were 10% higher/lower while all other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the contingent

consideration payable would decrease/increase by $10,000 (2012 : Nil). If the estimates of probability-adjusted revenues and profits
were to be increased/decreased by 10%, the carrying amount of the contingent consideration payable would increase/decrease by
$20,000 (2012: Nil).

Company

The company had no financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value in 2012 and 2013.

FRS 113.93(0) There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in the period.
FRS 113.9(h)(ii) Guidance notes — Transfers
FRS 107.27B(e) For any significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, the reasons for the transfers need to be disclosed. Transfers into

each level shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out of each level. For this purpose, significance shall
be judged with respect to profit or loss, and total assets or total liabilities.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Fair value of the group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

FRS 107.25, 29(a) Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities of the group and the company recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements
approximate their fair values:

FRS 113.93(b), 97 Group
2013 2012
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:
Finance lease receivables 169,650 182,000 154,163 163,000
Held-to-maturity investments:
Unquoted debt securities 27,548 29,017 21,299 21,911
Financial Liabilities
Borrowings:
Bank loans 448,753 463,000 525,530 530,000
Convertible loan notes 24,327 23,700 - -
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Fair value hierarchy
2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Finance lease receivables - 182,000 - 182,000
Held-to-maturity investments

Unquoted debt securities - - 29,017 29,017
Total - 182,000 29,017 211,017

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings:
Bank loans - 463,000 - 463,000
Convertible loan notes - 23,700 - 23,700
Total - 486,700 - 486,700

Guidance note:

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the
fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purpose only.

FRS 113.97, 93(d) The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in the level 2 and level 3 categories above
have been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Group

2013
Opening balance
Total gains or losses
- in profit or loss
- in other comprehensive income
Purchases
Issues
Disposals/settlements
Transfers out of Level 3

Closing balance

Total gains or losses for the period included
- in profit or loss for assets held at the end

- of the reporting period
(as part of “Other gains and losses"”)

2012
Opening balance
Total gains or losses
- in profit or loss
- in other comprehensive income
Purchases
Issues
Disposals/settlements
Transfers out of Level 3

Closing balance

Total gains or losses for the period included
- in profit or loss for assets held at the end

- of the reporting period
(as part of “Other gains and losses”)

Other financial assets
at fair value through

Available-for-sale

profit or loss financial assets Total
(Unquoted equities) (Unquoted equities)
$'000 $'000 $'000
1,000 1,000 2,000
12 - 12
- 10 10
6 - 6
1,018 1,010 2,028
8 - 8
975 992 1,967
25 - 25
- 8 8
- - 6
1,000 1,000 2,000
25 - 25
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4. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risks management (cont’d)

FRS 113.93(e)(ii) All gains and losses included in other comprehensive income relate to unlisted shares held at the end of the
reporting period and are reported as changes of ‘Investments revaluation reserves’.

The table above only includes financial assets. The only financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value on
Level 3 fair value measurement represent contingent consideration related to acquisition of Huiji Electronic Systems
(China) Limited (see Note 51.1). No gain or loss for the year related to this contingent liability has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

FRS 113.93(e)(iv) Guidance note:
For any transfers into and out of Level 3, the reasons for the transfers need to be disclosed. For significant
transfers, transfers into Level 3 shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out of Level 3. For this
purpose, significance shall be judged with respect to profit or loss, and total assets or total liabilities.

FRS 1.134, 135

The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the group consists of equity attributable to owners of the parent, comprising issued capital,
reserves and retained earnings.

The group's risk management committee reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this
review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the committee, the group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt. The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2012.
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Guidance notes — Disclosures on externally imposed capital requirements

When an entity is subject to externally imposed capital requirements, FRS 1.135 requires disclosures on:

+ The nature of those requirements;

» How those requirements are incorporated into the management of capital;

« Any changes in those requirements from the previous period;

» Whether during the period, the entity complied with any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is
subject to; and

» When the entity has not complied with such externally imposed capital requirements, the consequences of such
non-compliance.

Only capital requirements imposed by external regulators are required to be disclosed under FRS 1.135(a)(ii).
Although FRS 1.135(a)(ii) do not provide any further guidance regarding what is meant by ‘externally imposed
capital requirements’, paragraphs BC92 to BC97 of the Basis for Conclusions to IAS 1(2007) effectively narrow
the scope of the requirements to “entity-specific requirement(s] imposed on a particular entity by its prudential
supervisor or other regulator”. The entity bases these disclosures on the information provided internally to key
management personnel.

Although disclosure of details regarding loan covenants is not required under FRS 1.135(a)(ii), entities should
consider whether such details should nevertheless be disclosed in line with the requirements in FRS 1.17(c) to
provide additional information to enable users of the financial statements to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

An example of disclosures required by FRS 1.134 and 135 for an entity that is subject to externally imposed capital
reguirements is as follows:

The company manages its capital to ensure that it will able to continue as a going concern, to maximise the
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance, and to ensure that all externally
imposed capital requirements are complied with.

The capital structure of the company consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in Note 27, issued
capital, reserves and retained earnings. One of the subsidiaries of the company is required to set aside a
minimum amount of X% of profits annually. Such profits are accumulated in a separate reserve called “Statutory
Reserves”. The Statutory Reserves may only be distributed to shareholders upon liquidation of the subsidiary. The
company is in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended December
31,2013 and 2012.

The company’s risk management committee also reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part
of this review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
committee also ensures that the company maintains gearing ratios within a set range to comply with the loan
covenant imposed by a bank. Based on recommendations of the committee, the company will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The management’s strategy remained unchanged from 2012.

[Note - when the entity has not complied with such externally imposed capital requirements, it should disclose
the consequences of such non-compliance]
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

5. Holding company and related company transactions

The company is a subsidiary of GAAP Holdings Ltd, incorporated in the Republic of Singapore, which is also the
company’s ultimate holding company. Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the
holding company’s group of companies.

Guidance notes

1. Disclosure of name of ultimate controlling party

An entity shall disclose the name of its parent and, if different, the ultimate controlling party. The ultimate control-
ling party may or may not be a corporate entity. The requirement to disclose the entity’s ultimate controlling party
means that, where such control is exercised by an individual, or by a group of individuals acting in concert, their
identity must be disclosed.

If neither the entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party produces consolidated financial statements available
for public use, the name of the next most senior parent that does so shall also be disclosed.

A possible disclosure may be as follows:

The company is a subsidiary of GAAP International Ltd, incorporated in the Country KLM. The ultimate controlling
party is Mr Ang Beng Choo whose interest in the company is held through his shareholdings in ABC Ltd and XYZ
Ltd. The next senior parent of the company that prepares financial statements for public use is GAAP Holdings Pte
Ltd, incorporated in Singapore.

Some of the company's transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these
on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related companies that are not
members of the group:

Amounts owed by  Amounts owed to
Sales of goods  Purchases of goods  related companies  related companies

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

GAAP Holdings Ltd 693 582 439 427 209 198 231 139

Subsidiaries of
GAAP Holdings Ltd 1,289 981 897 883 398 293 149 78
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

5. Holding company and related company transactions (cont’d)

Sales of goods to related companies were made at the group’s usual list prices, less average discounts of 5%.
Purchases were made at market price discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships
between the companies.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received.
No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by
related companies.

In addition to the above, GAAP Holdings Ltd performed certain administrative services for the company, for which
a management fee of $0.18 million (2012: $0.16 million) was charged and paid, being an appropriate allocation of
costs incurred by relevant administrative departments of GAAP Holdings Ltd.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

6. Other related party transactions

Some of the company's transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

Amounts owed Amounts owed
Sales of goods  Purchases of goods by related parties  to related parties

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Associates =2 2 - = 22 - =
Joint ventures of an

investor who has

significant influence

over the group —_ = ;2B - o = =

The group also has a commitment to inject capital of up to $1 million (2012: $1 million) into its associate.

Sales of goods to related parties were made at the group’s usual list prices. Purchases were made at market price
discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received
except that the convertible loan notes (Note 31) issued during the year is secured by a personal guarantee of one
of the directors. No charge has been made for this guarantee.

No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by
related parties.

Guidance notes

1. Guarantees given by directors

It is not uncommon for directors to give guarantees in respect of the borrowings of an entity, often without making a
charge to the entity. The provision of such a guarantee will be a related party transaction and should be clearly disclosed
here.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

6. Other related party transactions (cont’'d)

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Short-term benefits 13,681 10,270
Post-employment benefits 1,602 1,391
Other long-term benefits 1,153 1,769
Share-based payments _ 949 _ 863
17,385 14,293

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Guidance notes — Key management personnel compensation

1. Key management personnel compensation paid by another related entity

The disclosure required is in respect of services provided to the entity. Therefore, where key management
personnel are paid a single salary in respect of services to more than one entity within the group, it will be
necessary to allocate the amounts paid between the services provided to the different group entities for the
purposes of disclosure in the separate financial statements of each individual group entity.

Note: FRS 24 does not mandate inter-company billing arrangements. Therefore the allocation would be for
disclosure purposes.

2. Non-monetary benefits to key management personnel

For the purposes of FRS 24.18, it would be appropriate to disclose non-monetary benefits granted to key
management personnel. For example, where a member of key management personnel is given, as part of his
employment package, the benefit of staying in a residential property owned by the reporting entity, it would be
appropriate to disclose the depreciation of the property recognised in the period, because that is the amount the
entity has recognised in profit or loss in respect of the benefits.

FRS 24 does not require disclosure of fair value of the benefit provided. The entity should consider whether the
amount recognised reflects the nature of the benefit provided. If the fair value of the benefit could be determined
reliably, disclosure of additional information that is relevant to users, including a description of the terms and
conditions of the compensation, would be encouraged.



Notes to financial statements

LM 1207(12) to (15)

CCG.9

3. Directors’ and key executives’ remuneration
Where the company is listed, other than the disclosures required by FRS 24, the following are required disclosures
in the annual report (i.e. not necessarily in the financial statements):

« The issuer should make disclosure as recommended in the Code of Corporate Governance, or otherwise disclose
and explain any deviation from the recommendation.
[Note - The requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance are reproduced below]
 The remuneration must include all forms of remuneration from the issuer and any of its subsidiaries. In deciding
whether an item or benefit is to be included in the remuneration, regard shall be given to the taxability of that
item.
The value of an item or benefit must be disclosed as the original cost or value of the amount or benefit, and not
the taxable value to the recipient.
- If a person served in the capacity of a director or key executive for any part of a financial period, disclosure
is required of the person'’s actual remuneration for the period that the person had served as a director or key
executive.

The requirements of the Code of Corporate Governance (2012) on disclosure of remuneration are reproduced
below:

Principle:

9. Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, and
the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company's Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation
to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and
key management personnel, and performance.

Guidelines:

9.1. The company should report to the shareholders each year on the remuneration of directors, the CEO and at
least the top five key management personnel (who are not also directors or the CEO) of the company. This annual
remuneration report should form part of, or be annexed to the company's annual report of its directors. It should
be the main means through which the company reports to shareholders on remuneration matters.

The annual remuneration report should include the aggregate amount of any termination, retirement and post-
employment benefits that may be granted to directors, the CEO and the top five key management personnel (who
are not directors or the CEO).

9.2. The company should fully disclose the remuneration of each individual director and the CEO on a named
basis. For administrative convenience, the company may round off the disclosed figures to the nearest

thousand dollars. There should be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each director's and the CEO's
remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind,
stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives.
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9.3 The company should name and disclose the remuneration of at least the top five key management personnel
(who are not directors or the CEO) in bands of $$250,000. Companies need only show the applicable bands. There
should be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each key management personnel's remuneration earned
through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind, stock options granted,
share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives.

In addition, the company should disclose in aggregate the total remuneration paid to the top five key management
personnel (who are not directors or the CEO).

As best practice, companies are also encouraged to fully disclose the remuneration of the said top five key
management personnel.

9.4. For transparency, the annual remuneration report should disclose the details of the remuneration of employees
who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO, and whose remuneration exceeds $$50,000 during
the year. This will be done on a named basis with clear indication of the employee's relationship with the relevant
director or the CEO. Disclosure of remuneration should be in incremental bands of $$50,000. The company need
only show the applicable bands..

9.5. The annual remuneration report should also contain details of employee share schemes to enable their
shareholders to assess the benefits and potential cost to the companies. The important terms of the share schemes
should be disclosed, including the potential size of grants, methodology of valuing stock options, exercise price of
options that were granted as well as outstanding, whether the exercise price was at the market or otherwise on
the date of grant, market price on the date of exercise, the vesting schedule, and the justifications for the terms
adopted.

9.6. For greater transparency, companies should disclose more information on the link between remuneration paid
to the executive directors and key management personnel, and performance. The annual remuneration report
should set out a description of performance conditions to which entitlement to short-term and long-term incentive
schemes are subject, an explanation on why such performance conditions were chosen, and a statement of
whether such performance conditions are met.
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FRS 7.45 7. Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cash at bank 5,677 604 2,022 603
Fixed deposits 5,000 500 - -
Cash on hand _ 82 _71 _52 _44
10,759 1,175 2,074 647
Less: bank overdrafts (1,907) (1,909) - -
Add: cash and cash equivalents
included in a disposal group
held-for-sale - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents in
the statement of cash flows 8852 ﬂ 2,704 647

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values

have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.
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FRS 107.6,7 8. Trade and other receivables
Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Amounts receivable from the
sale of goods 82,051 110,111 - -
Allowance for doubtful debts (3.240) (4,390) - -
78,811 105,721 - -
FRS 11.42(a) Amounts due from construction
contract customers (Note 9) 24,930 17,302 - -
Deferred consideration for the
disposal of GAAP Playsystems
Limited (Note 50) 23,539 - - -
Other receivables due from
holding company (Note 5) 209 198 - -
Trade receivables due from
related companies (Note 5) 398 293 - -
Other receivables due from
associates (Notes 6 and 21) 29 142 - -
Other receivables due from
subsidiaries (Notes 5 and 20) - - 89,371 55,895
127,916 123,656 89,371 55,895

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair

values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.
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8. Trade and other receivables (cont'd)

FRS 107.36(c),37 The average credit period on sales of goods is 60 days (2012: 60 days). No interest is charged on the trade
receivables for the first 60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% (2012: 2%) per
annum on the outstanding balance. The group has recognised an allowance for doubtful debts of 100% against
all receivables over 120 days because historical experience is such that receivables that are past due beyond
120 days are generally not recoverable. Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables
between 60 days and 120 days based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by
reference to past default experience.

FRS 107.36(c) Before accepting any new customer, the group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential

FRS 107.34() customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. 80% of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit
scoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the group. Of the trade receivables balance
at the end of the year, $2.1 million (2012: $1.7 million) is due from company E, the group’s largest customer.
There are no other customers who represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables.

Included in the group's trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $1.562 million (2012:

FRS 107.36(c), $1.033 million) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the group has not recognised an
FRS 107.37(a) allowance for doubtful receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are
FRS 107.33(a),(b) still considered recoverable. The group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these

receivables are 84 days (2012: 85 days).

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the

FRS 107.37(b) trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The concentration
of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the directors believe that
there are no further credit allowances required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

The company’s other receivables due from subsidiaries are interest-free and repayable on demand and the average
age of these receivables is less than 30 days. The company has not recognised any allowance as the directors are
of the view that these receivables are recoverable.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are specific trade receivables with a balance of $63,000 (2012:

$52,000) which have been placed under liquidation. The impairment recognised represents the difference between
the carrying amount of the specific trade receivable and present value of expected liquidation proceeds.
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Guidance notes — Analysis of trade receivables
Alternatively, the required disclosure can be presented in a tabular form as illustrated below.

The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at December 31:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Not past due and not impaired 126,194 122,393 = =
Past due but not impaired (i) 1,562 1,033 89,371 55,895
FRS 107.37(b) 127,756 123,426 89,371 55,895
Impaired receivables - collectively assessed (i) 3,300 4,500 = =
Less: Allowance for impairment (3.177) (4,338) = =
123 162 = =

Impaired receivables - individually assessed (ii)
- Customer placed under liquidation 100 120 = =
- Past due more than 36 months and no response to

repayment demands = = = =

Less: Allowance for impairment (63) (52) = =
FRS 107.37(a) 37 68 = =
Total trade receivables, net 127,916 123,656 89,371 55,895

(i) Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired

< 3 months 1,530 1,000 89,371 55,895
3 months to 6 months 32 33 = =
6 months to 12 months = = = =
> 12 months = = = =

1,562 1,033 89,371 55,895

(i) These amounts are stated before any deduction for impairment losses.

FRS 107.16
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
FRS 107.20(e)
Balance at beginning of the year 4,390 4,322
Amounts written off during the year (1,050) (32)
Amounts recovered during the year - -
(Decrease) Increase in allowance recognised in profit or loss (100) 100
Unwinding of discount - -
Balance at end of the year 3.240 4,390
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FRS 107.42A,
42B, 42D

Guidance notes — Derecognition of trade receivables

Below is an illustrative disclosure applicable to entities that have factored their trade receivables with recourse.
Disclosures based on Amended FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets

FRS 107 requires disclosure for transactions involving transfers of financial assets, by requiring enhancements to the
existing disclosures in FRS 107 where an asset is transferred but is not derecognised and introduce new disclosures
for assets that are derecognised but the entity continues to have a continuing exposure to the asset after the sale.

The following is a possible disclosure for factored receivables i.e. where an asset is transferred but is not
derecognised.

During the period, the group transferred Sxx (2012: Sxx) of trade receivables to an unrelated entity. As part of
the transfer, the group provided the transferors a credit guarantee over the expected losses of those receivables.
Accordingly, the group continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the
cash received on the transfer as a secured borrowing (see Note x). At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amount of the transferred short-term receivables is Sxx million. The carrying amount of the associated liability is
SXX.

The transferee of the trade receivables has recourse only on those trade receivables. The fair values of the trans-
ferred receivables and the associated liabilities as at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Transferred trade receivables — at fair value XXX XXX
Secured borrowings (Note X) — at fair value YWy YWy
Net position 77z 77z
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

9. Construction contracts

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Contracts in progress at end of the reporting period:
Amounts due from contract customers included
in trade and other receivables (Note 8) 24,930 17,302
Amounts due to contract customers included
in trade and other payables (Note 28) (3,587) (3,.904)
21,343 13,398
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits
(less recognised losses to date) 59,039 33,829
Less: Progress billings (37,696) (20,431)
21,343 13,398

At December 31, 2013, retention monies held by customers for contract work amounted to $2.3 million (2012:
$1.8 million). Advances received from customers for contract work amounted to $0.85 million (2012: $Nil).

At December 31, 2013, amounts of $4.3 million (2012: $2.1 million) included in trade and other receivables and
arising from construction contracts are due for settlement after more than 12 months, but have been classified as
current because they are expected to be realised in the normal operating cycle.

Guidance notes:
An entity shall classify an asset as current when:

a) It expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating cycle;

b) It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;

0) It expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting period; or

d) The asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in FRS 7) unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged
or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

e e e o

An entity shall classify all other assets as non-current.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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10. Finance lease receivables

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
FRS 17.47(a)
Group Group
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Amounts receivable under
finance leases:
FRS 17.47(b)
Within one year 72,526 65,948 54,713 49,674
In the second to fifth year inclusive 120,875 109,913 114,937 104,489
FRS 17.47(d) 193,401 175,861 169,650 154,163
Less: unearned finance income (23,751) (21,698) _N/A _N/A
Present value of minimum
lease payments receivable 169,650 154,163 169,650 154,163
Allowance for uncollectible lease
payments - - - -
Present value of minimum
lease payments receivable 169,650 154,163 169,650 154,163
FRS 1.61 Analysed as:
Group
2013 2012
$’000 $'000
Current finance lease receivables
(recoverable within 12 months) 54,713 49,674
Non-current finance lease receivables
(recoverable after 12 months) 114,937 104,489
169,650 154,163

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values

have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.
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10. Finance lease receivables (cont'd)

The group enters into finance leasing arrangements for certain of its electronic equipment. All leases are
denominated in Singapore dollars. The average term of finance leases entered into is 4 years.

Unguaranteed residual values of assets leased under finance leases at the end of the reporting period are estimated
at $0.37 million (2012: $0.25 million).

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract date for all of the lease term. The average effective
interest rate contracted is approximately 11.5% (2012: 12%) per annum.

Finance lease receivable balances are secured over the equipment leased. The group is not permitted to sell or
repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the lessee. However, in the event of default, the group is
entitled sell the asset, and has rights to any proceeds from such a sale up to the total amount receivable from the
lessee.

11. Held for trading investments

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Quoted equity shares, at fair value 11,988 11,125

The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the group the opportunity for
return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of
these securities are based on closing quoted market prices on the last market day of the financial year.

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values
have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.
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FRS 107.6, 7 12. Held-to-maturity financial assets
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Quoted debt securities, at amortised cost 25,255 18,605

The average effective interest rate of the quoted debt securities is 1.13% (2012 1.00%) per annum.
As at December 31, 2013, the quoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $25 million (2012: $19
million), with coupon rates ranging from 0.75% to 1.25% (2012: 0.83% to 1.18%) per annum and mature within

12 months.

There were no disposals or allowance for impairment for held-to-maturity financial assets.

Guidance notes - Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values

have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.
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13. Derivative financial instruments

Group
2013 2012
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Designated in hedge
accounting relationships 1,010 - 2,938 -
Not designated in hedge
accounting relationships _114 (273) - -
1,124 (273) 2,938 -
Interest rate swaps, designated in
hedge accounting relationships 3,914 - - -
s @1y 2m
Analysed as:
Current 2,436 (273) 2,938 -
Non-current 2,602 - - -
ﬂ (273) 2,938 —_

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values
have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.

The group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The group is party
to a variety of forward foreign exchange contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures.
The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the group’s principal markets.

At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts
to which the group is committed are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Forward foreign exchange contracts 547,040 403,573
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13. Derivative financial instruments (cont'd)

In addition, the group had options to purchase United States dollars equivalent to an amount of approximately
$50 million (2012: $50 million) as a hedge against exchange losses on future purchases of goods.

These arrangements are designed to address significant exchange exposures during the first half of 2013, and are
renewed on a revolving basis as required.

The fair value of currency derivatives that are designated and effective as cash flow hedges amounting to $1.01
million (2012: $2.9 million) has been recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts of $7,000 (2012:
$3,000) and $5,000 (2012: $4,000) respectively have been reclassified from equity to profit or loss and inventories
in respect of contracts matured respectively during the year.

Changes in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivatives amounting to $5,000 have been charged to profit or
loss in the year (2012: SNil) (Note 43).

Guidance notes — Information on forward foreign currency contracts

The table below provides an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to foreign exchange risks and the
use of forward foreign currency contracts at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key
management personnel.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding as at the end of the reporting
period.

Average
Outstanding contracts exchange rate Foreign currency Contract value Fair value
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Group FC'000 FC'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Sell US dollars
less than 3 months 1.5 1.6 333,333 187,500 500,000 300,000 1,124 2,673
Buy Euro
less than 3 months 2.1 2.1 22,400 49,320 47,040 103,573 273 265
851 2,938
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13. Derivative financial instruments (cont'd)

At the start of the third quarter of 2013 the group reduced its forecast on sales to United States due to increased
local competition and higher shipping costs. The group has previously hedged $70 million of future sales of which
$20 million are no longer expected to occur, and $50 million remains highly probable.

Accordingly the group has reclassified $5,000 of gains on foreign currency forward contracts relating to forecast
transactions that are no longer expected to occur from the hedging reserve in equity into profit or loss.

The group uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its bank borrowings by
swapping a proportion of those borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Contracts with nominal values of
$200 million have fixed interest payments at an average rate of 7% for periods up until 2013 and have floating
interest receipts at 2% plus Singapore Interbank Offered Rate, which approximates an average of 6% per annum.

All of the group’s interest rate swaps are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value of these
interest rate swaps, amounting to $3.91 million (2012: $Nil) has been recognised in other comprehensive income.
An amount of $0.9 million (2012: $Nil) has been offset against hedged interest payments made in the year.

Guidance notes — Information on interest rate swaps
The tables below provide an example of summary quantitative data about exposure to interest rate risks and the use of

interest rate swaps at the end of the reporting period that an entity may provide internally to key management personnel.

The following tables detail the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period:

Outstanding floating Average contracted Notional

for fixed contracts fixed interest rate principal amount Fair value
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Group $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

1 to 2 years 7% - 200,000 - 3,914 -
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13. Derivative financial instruments (cont'd)

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the Singapore
Interbank Offered Rate. The group will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net
basis.

FRS 107.22, 23(a) All'interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are
designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the group'’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest

rates on borrowings. The interest rate swaps and the interest payments on the loan occur simultaneously and the
amount recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss over the loan period.

Guidance notes — Information on interest rate swaps

If the entity has outstanding fixed for floating contracts, the following illustrative note can be used.

Outstanding fixed Average contracted Notional
for floating contracts fixed interest rate principal amount Fair value

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Group $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Less than 1 year X X XX XX XX XX
[describe] X X XX XX XX XX

XX XX
FRS 107.39(a) The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the Singapore Interbank

Offered Rate. The group will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

FRS 107.24(a) Interest rate swap contracts exchanging fixed rate interest for floating rate interest are designated and effective as fair
value hedges in respect of interest rates. During the period, the hedge was 100% effective in hedging the fair value
exposure to interest rate movements and as a result the carrying amount of the loan was adjusted by $Sxx which was
included in profit or loss at the same time that the fair value of interest rate swap was included in profit or loss.
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14. Inventories

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Raw materials 84,255 80,504
Work-in-progress 2,578 1,893
Finished goods 30,860 26,301
117,693 108,698
Classified as part of a disposal group held for sale
(Note 15) 202 -
117,895 108,698

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes $2.34 million (2012: $1.86 million) in respect of write-
downs of inventory to net realisable value, and has been reduced by $0.5 million (2012: $0.4 million) in respect of
the reversal of such write-downs. Previous write-downs have been reversed as a result of increased sales price in
certain markets.

Inventories of $1.29 million (2012: $0.86 million) are expected to be recovered after more than twelve months.

Inventories with carrying amounts of $26 million (2012: $19.3 million) have been pledged as security for certain of
the group’s bank overdrafts.

Guidance notes - Reversal of write-downs

The reversal of any write-down of inventories shall be disclosed in the financial statements along with the circum-
stances or events that led to the reversal of the write-down.

For example:

Due to an increase in the demand for certain goods and a result of changes in consumer preferences, the group
reversed SXXX, being part of an inventory write-down made in 2012, to the current year profit or loss. The reversal
is included in “Cost of Sales”.

Other reasons could also include having inventories sold above carrying amounts.
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FRS 105.41 15. Assets classified as held for sale

On December 20, 2013, the management resolved to dispose of one of the group’s production line for toys
and one of the group’s production lines for electronic goods. Negotiations with several interested parties have
subsequently taken place. The assets and liabilities attributable to the production line, which are expected to be
sold within twelve months, have been classified as a disposal group held for sale and are presented separately
in the statement of financial position. The operations are included in the group'’s electronic goods activities for
segment reporting purposes (Note 41).

The proceeds of disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and liabilities and,
accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised on the classification of these operations as held for sale.

FRS 105.38 The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal group classified as held for sale are as follows:
2013
$'000

Goodwill 22
Property, plant and equipment 1,698
FRS 2.36(c) Inventories 202
Total assets classified as held for sale 1,922
Trade and other payables, and total for liabilities
associated with assets classified as held for sale 247
Net assets of disposal group 1,675
FRS 105.41(d) Guidance notes - Assets classified as held for sale

—

. For an entity presenting segment information in accordance with FRS 108 Operating Segments, the entity
discloses the reportable segment in which the non-current asset (or disposal group) is presented in accordance
with FRS 108 Operating Segments.

2. FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations specifies the disclosures required in

respect of assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued operations. Disclosures in other

FRSs do not apply to such assets (or disposal groups) unless:

Those FRSs specifically require disclosures in respect of non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held

for sale or discontinued operations (e.g. FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment); or

The disclosures relate to the measurement of assets or liabilities within a disposal group that are outside the

scope of FRS 105's measurement requirements and the information is not disclosed elsewhere in the financial

statements (e.g. measurement of financial instruments in accordance with FRS 39 financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement).
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16. Property, plant and equipment

Cost or valuation:
At January 1, 2012
Additions

Exchange differences
Disposal

Revaluation decrease

At December 31, 2012

Additions

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary
Exchange differences

Disposal of a subsidiary

Disposals

Reclassified as held for sale
Revaluation increase

At December 31, 2013

Comprising:
December 31, 2012
At cost

At valuation

December 31, 2013
At cost
At valuation

Leasehold
land and Properties Plant
buildings under and
atrevalued  construction  equipment
amount at cost at cost Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
448,096 74,002 77,322 599,420
- 3,698 31,690 35,388
(1,569) - (142) (1,711)
- - (5,000) (5,000)
(14,328) - - (14,328)
432,199 77,700 103,870 613,769
- 17,260 44,359 61,619
- - 8,907 8,907
2,103 - 972 3,075
- - (22,402) (22,402)
- - (6,413) (6,413)
- - (3,400) (3,400)
51,486 - - 51,486
485,788 94,960 125,893 706,641
- 77,700 103,870 181,570
432,199 - - 432,199
432,199 77,700 103,870 613,769
- 94,960 125,893 220,853
485,788 - - 485,788
485,788 94,960 125,893 706,641
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16. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Group
Leasehold
land and Properties Plant
buildings under and
atrevalued  construction  equipment
amount at cost at cost Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2012 - - 39,681 39,681
Depreciation 10,694 - 8,348 19,042
Exchange differences (794) - (102) (896)
Eliminated on disposal - - (1,000) (1,000)
Eliminated on revaluation (9,900 - - (9,900)
At December 31, 2012 - - 46,927 46,927
Depreciation 13,172 - 16,345 29,517
Exchange differences 51 - 927 978
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary - - (12,277) (12,277)
FRS 36.126(a) Eliminated on disposals - - (5,614) (5,614)
Assets reclassified as held for sale - - (1,702) (1,702)
Eliminated on revaluation (13,223) - - (13,223)
At December 31, 2013 - - 44,606 44,606
Impairment:
Impairment loss recognised in the year
ended December 31, 2013 and
balance at December 31, 2013 - - 4,130 4,130
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013 485,788 94,960 77,157 657,905
At December 31, 2012 432,199 77,700 56,943 566,842
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16. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

During the year, the group carried out a review of the recoverable amount of its manufacturing plant and
equipment, having regard to its ongoing programme of modernisation and the introduction of new product
lines. These assets are used in the group’s electronic goods segment®. The review led to the recognition of

an impairment loss of $4.13 million that has been recognised in profit or loss, and included in the line item
[depreciation and amortisation expense/cost of sales]. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been
determined on the basis of their value in use. The discount rate used in measuring value in use was 9%. The
discount rate used when the recoverable amount of these assets was previously estimated in 2007 was 8%.

The carrying amount of the group’s plant and equipment includes an amount of $2.55 million (2012: $1.40
million) secured in respect of assets held under finance leases.

The group has pledged land and buildings having a carrying amount of approximately $370 million (2012: $320
million) to secure banking facilities granted to the group.

The group’s land and buildings are stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation,
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The fair value
measurements of the group’s leasehold land and buildings as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 were
performed by Messrs. Low, Poh & Koh, independent valuers not connected with the group, who have appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of the properties in the relevant locations.

The fair value of the leasehold land was determined [based on the market comparable approach that reflects
recent transaction prices for similar properties/other methods (describe)]. The fair value of the buildings was
determined using [the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of
comparable utility and age, adjusted for obsolescence/other methods (describe)]. There has been no change to
the valuation technique during the year.

Management considers that certain unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the group’s
leasehold land and buildings are sensitive to the fair value measurement. A change in these inputs will have a
corresponding increase/ decrease in the fair valuation as follows:

[Describe inputs and relationship between observable and unobservable input(s) and fair value — e.g. increase in
estimated comparable utility of the building will lead to an increase in the fair value of the building]



Notes to financial statements

FRS 113.93(c)
FRS 113.95

FRS 113.C3

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

16. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Details of the group’s leasehold land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at December
31, 2013 are as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as at

December 31,

2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Leasehold land - - 421,100 421,100
Buildings - - 64,688 64,688
— — 485,788 485,788

Guidance note:

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the
fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purposes only.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.

[Where there had been a transfer between different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the group should disclose
the reasons for the transfer and the group’s policy for determining when transfers between levels are deemed
to have occurred (for example, at the beginning or end of the reporting period or at the date of the event that
caused the transfer)].

Guidance note:

FRS 113 contains specific transitional provisions such that entities that apply FRS 113 for the first time do not
need to make the disclosures required by the Standard in comparative information provided for periods before
initial application of the Standard. Nevertheless, an entity should provide disclosures for the prior period that were
required by the then applicable Standards.
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Guidance notes — Property, plant and equipment

1. Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Entities that had revalued their property, plant and equipment before January 1, 1984 (in accordance with
the prevailing accounting standard at that time) or performed a one-off revaluation of its property, plant and
equipment between January 1, 1984 and December 31, 1996, need not revalue their assets.

2. Details of properties

Where the company is listed, in respect of land and buildings, a breakdown in value in terms of freehold and
leasehold shall be disclosed in the annual report. Where properties have been revalued, the portion of the
aggregate value of land and buildings that is based on valuation as well as the valuation date shall be stated.
Where the aggregate value for all properties for development or sale held by the group represents more than 15%
of the value of the consolidated net tangible assets, or contributes more than 15% of the consolidated pre-tax
operating profit, the issuer must disclose the following information as a note to the financial statements:

i. A brief description and location of the property;

ii. If in the course of construction, the stage of completion as at the date of the financial statements and the
expected completion date;

iii. The existing use;

iv. The site and gross floor area of the property; and

v. The percentage interest in the property.

Provided that if, in the opinion of the directors, the number of such properties is such that compliance with this
requirement would result in particulars of excessive length being given, compliance is required only for properties,
which in the opinion of the directors, are material.

3. Impairment disclosures
An entity that reports segment information in accordance with FRS 108 Operating Segments discloses the report-
able segment that the asset belongs to.
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17. Investment property

Group
2013 2012
FRS 40.76 $'000 $'000
At fair value
Balance at beginning of year 11,409 11,299
Additions through subsequent expenditure - -
Acquisitions through business combinations - -
Other acquisitions - -
Disposals - -
Property reclassified as held for sale - -
Gain from fair value adjustments included in
profit or loss 100 -
Net foreign currency exchange differences 491 110
Transfers - -
Other changes - -
Balance at end of year 12,000 11,409
All of the group’s investment property is held under freehold interests.
FRS 40.75(a) The fair values of the group's investment property at December 31, 2013 and 2012 have been determined on
FRS 40.75(e) the basis of valuations carried out at the respective year end dates by independent valuers having an appropriate
FRS 113.91(a), 93(d) recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the properties being
valued, and not related to the group. The fair value was determined [based on the market comparable approach
that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties/other methods [describe]]. In estimating the fair value
of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There has been no change to the
valuation technique during the year.
FRS 113.93(a),(b) Details of the group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at December 31,
2013 are as follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value as at
December 31, 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Investment property units
located in A Land — 12,000 - 12,000
FRS 113.93 There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.
FRS 113.95 [Where there had been a transfer between different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the group should disclose

the reasons for the transfer and the group’s policy for determining when transfers between levels are deemed
to have occurred (for example, at the beginning or end of the reporting period or at the date of the event that
caused the transfer)).

Guidance note:

If the investment properties are classified as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy, FRS 113.93(h)(i) requires a
narrative description of the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs if a change
in those inputs might result in a significantly different fair value measurement and a description of the interrelation-
ships between those inputs and other unobservable inputs, if any, including how those interrelationships might
magnify or mitigate the impact on fair value arising from changes in such inputs. The narrative description of the
sensitivity should include, as a minimum, all significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement.
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Guidance notes:

Fair value hierarchy

The categorisation of fair value measurements into the different levels of the fair value hierarchy depends on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the
fair value measurement. The above categorisations are for illustrative purposes only.

Transitional provisions

FRS 113 contains specific transitional provisions such that entities that apply FRS 113 for the first time do not
need to make the disclosures required by the Standard in comparative information provided for periods before
initial application of the Standard. Nevertheless, an entity should provide disclosures for the prior period that were
required by the then applicable Standards.

Fair value disclosures for investment properties measured using the cost model

For investment properties that are measured using the cost model, FRS 40.79(e) requires the fair value of the
properties to be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. In that case, the fair value of the properties for
disclosure purpose should be measured in accordance with FRS 113. In addition, FRS 113.97 requires the following
disclosures:

At which level fair value measurement is categorised (i.e. Level 1, 2 or 3);

« Where the fair value measurement is categorised within Level 2 or Level 3, a description of the valuation
technique(s) and the inputs used in the fair value measurement; and

« The highest and best use of the properties (if different from their current use) and the reasons why the
properties are being used in a manner that is different from their highest and best use

The property rental income from the group’s investment properties all of which are leased out under operating
leases, amounted to $0.6 million (2012: $0.07 million). Direct operating expenses (including repairs and mainte-
nance) arising from the rental-generating investment properties amounted to $0.4 million (2012: $0.05 million).

Guidance notes - Details of investment properties

Where the company is listed, in respect of land and buildings, a breakdown in value in terms of freehold and leasehold
shall be disclosed in the annual report. Where properties have been revalued, the portion of the aggregate value of land
and buildings that is based on valuation as well as the valuation date shall be stated. Where the aggregate value for all
properties for investment purposes held by the group represents more than 15% of the value of the consolidated net
tangible assets, or contributes more than 15% of the consolidated pre-tax operating profit, the issuer must disclose the
following information as a note to the financial statements:

i. A brief description and location of the property;
ii. The existing use; and
iii. Whether the property is leasehold or freehold. If leasehold, state the unexpired term of the lease.

Provided that if, in the opinion of the directors, the number of such properties is such that compliance with this require-
ment would result in particulars of excessive length being given, compliance is required only for properties, which in the
opinion of the directors, are material.
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18. Goodwill
Group
$'000
Cost:
At January 1, 2012 2,754
Exchange differences (216)
At December 31, 2012 2,538
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary 3,658
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (1,673)
Reclassified as held for sale (22)
At December 31, 2013 4,501
Impairment:
Impairment loss recognised in the year ended
December 31, 2013 and balance at December 31, 2013 463
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013 4,038
At December 31, 2012 2,538

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that
are expected to benefit from that business combination. Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying
amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

FRS 36.134(a) Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Electronic goods:
Huiji Electronic Systems (China)
Limited (single CGU) 3,658 -

Construction (comprised several CGUs):
residential property construction activities 843 843

Toy operations:
GAAP Playsystems
Limited (single CGU) - 1,695
4,501 2,538
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18. Goodwiill (cont'd)

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might
be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for
the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling
prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are
based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and
expectations of future changes in the market.

The group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management
for the next five years and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years based on an estimated growth rate
of 3%. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from Huiji Electronic Systems (China) Limited is 8.9%, and from
the group’s residential property construction activities is 11.2%.

As at December 31, 2013, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied not likely to cause the
recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amounts of the CGU.

At December 31, 2013, before impairment testing, goodwill of $0.84 million was allocated to the residential
property construction CGU within the construction business segment(1). Due to increased competition in the
market, the group has revised its cash flow forecasts for this CGU. The residential property CGU has therefore been
reduced to its recoverable amount through recognition of an impairment loss against goodwill of $0.46 million.

Guidance notes:

1. Impairment testing disclosures
An entity that reports segment information in accordance with FRS 108 Operating Segments discloses the amount
of the impairment loss recognised or reversed by reportable segment accordance with FRS 108.
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FRS 38.118(c), (e) 19. Other intangible assets
Group
Patents
Development and
costs trademarks Total
$'000 $'000 $'000

Cost:
At January 1, 2012 - 13,000 13,000
Additions - 18,617 18,617
At December 31, 2012 - 31,617 31,617
Additions 3,600 3,835 7,435
Acquired on acquisition

of a subsidiary - 870 870
At December 31, 2013 3,600 36,322 39,922
Amortisation:
At January 1, 2012 - 9,477 9,477
Amortisation for the year - 846 846
At December 31, 2012 - 10,323 10,323
Amortisation for the year 360 2,254 2,614
At December 31, 2013 360 12,577 12,937
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2013 3,240 23,745 26,985
At December 31, 2012 - 21,294 21,294

FRS 38.118(a) The intangible assets included above have finite useful lives, over which the assets are amortised. The amortisation

period for development costs incurred on the group’s e-business development is three years. Patents and
trademarks are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is on average 10 years.

FRS 38.118(d) The amortisation expense has been included in the line item “depreciation and amortisation expense” in profit or
loss.
FRS 38.122(b) The group'’s patents protect the design and specification of its electronic goods produced in Singapore, the United

States and Europe. The carrying amount of patents at December 31, 2013 is $20.2 million (2012: $18.4 million).
The average remaining amortisation period for these patents is 7 years.
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20. Subsidiaries

Company
FRS 27.42(b) 2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 111,650 110,000
Details of the company’s significant subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 are as follows:
Country of Proportion Proportion
Name of incorporation of ownership of voting Principal
subsidiary (or residence) interest power held activity
2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %
GAAP Construction
Pte Ltd * Singapore 100 100 100 100 Property
investment
and
construction
GAAP Equipment
Leasing Pte Ltd * Singapore 45 45 45 45 Equipment
leasing
GAAP Electronics
Sdn Bhd ** Malaysia 100 100 100 100 Manufacture
of electronic
equipment
GAAP Ventures
Pte Ltd * Singapore 100 100 100 100 Venture capital
investments
GAAP Electronics People’s Republic
(China) Limited ** of China 70 65 70 65 Manufacture
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20. Subsidiaries (cont'd)

Country of Proportion Proportion
Name of incorporation of ownership of voting Principal
subsidiary (or residence) interest power held activity
2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %
GAAP Pacific Inc** US.A. 90 90 100 100 Sales and
distribution
Huiji Electronic Systems People’s Republic
(China) Limited # ** of China 80 - 80 - Manufacture
of electronic
equipment
GAAP Playsystems
Limited ## ** Hong Kong - 100 - 100 Manufacture
of electronic
components
and toys
* Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.
* Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.
# During the financial year, Huiji Electronic Systems (China) Limited was acquired pursuant to a
conditional cash offer (Note 51).
#Hi GAAP Playsystems Limited was disposed during the financial year (Note 50).

Although the company does not own more than 50% of the equity shares of GAAP Equipment Leasing Pte Ltd,
and consequently it does not control more than half of the voting power of those shares, it has the power to
appoint and remove the majority of the board of directors and control of the entity is by the board. As a result,
GAAP Equipment Leasing Pte Ltd is controlled by the company and is consolidated in these financial statements.
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20. Subsidiaries (cont'd)

Guidance notes: Other auditors

Where significant subsidiaries are audited by another firm of auditors, the names of the other auditors are to be
disclosed accordingly. A subsidiary is considered significant if its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the
issuer’s consolidated net tangible assets, or its pre-tax profits account for 20% or more of the issuer’s consolidated
pre-tax profits.

The following schedule shows the effects of changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that did not
result in change of control, on the equity attributable to owners of the parent:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Proceeds received / amounts paid on changes
in ownership interest in subsidiary 350 -
Non-controlling interest acquired 100 -
Difference recognised in equity reserves (Note 36) 250 _-
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21. Associates

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Cost of investment in associates 32,920 1,120

Share of post-acquisition profit,

net of dividend received 12,140 11,154
45,060 12,274
Details of the group’s significant associates at December 31, 2013 are as follows:
Place of Proportion Proportion
incorporation of of
Name of and ownership voting Principal
associate operation interest power held activity
2013 2012 2013 2012
% % % %

PAAG Pte Ltd* Singapore 30 30 17 17 Manufacture
of electronic
equipment

LM 717,718
Apag Limited** Elbonia 45 45 40 40 Construction
FRS 28.37(0) * Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

** Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

Although the group holds less than 20% of the voting power in PAAG Pte Ltd, the group exercises significant

influence by virtue of its contractual right to appoint two directors to the board of that company.

FRS 28.37(e) The financial statements of Apag Limited are made up to October 31, each year. This was the financial reporting

date established when the company was incorporated, and a change of reporting date is not permitted in Elbonia.
For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the financial statements of Apag Limited for the
year ended October 31, 2013 have been used, and appropriate adjustments have been made for the effects of
significant transactions between that date and December 31, 2013.
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21. Associates (cont'd)

FRS 28.37(b) Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Total assets 171,340 86,261
Total liabilities (51,180) (58,986)
Net assets 120,160 27,275
Group's share of associates’ net assets 45,060 12,274

Guidance notes:

If carrying amount of associates includes goodwill, the information on group’s share of associates’ net assets would not
be equal to the carrying amount of associates.

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Revenue 158,900 94,780
Profit for the year 34,034 2184
Group's share of associates’ profit for the year 12,763 983
FRS 28.37(g) The group has not recognised losses amounting to $20,000 (2012: $26,000) for PAAG Pte Ltd. The accumulated

losses not recognised were $100,000 (2012: $80,000).

LM 717, LM 718 Guidance notes: Other auditors
Where significant associates are audited by another firm of auditors, the names of the other auditors are to be disclosed

accordingly. An associate is considered significant if its net tangible assets represent 20% or more of the issuer’s consoli-
dated net tangible assets, or its pre-tax profits account for 20% or more of the issuer’s consolidated pre-tax profits.
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22. Joint ventures

FRS 31.56 The group has the following significant interests in joint ventures:
A 25% share in the ownership of a property located in Singapore. The group is entitled to a proportionate share
of the rental income received and bears a proportionate share of the outgoings. The joint venture is audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.
A 33.5% equity shareholding with equivalent voting power, in JV Electronics Limited, a joint venture established in

the People’s Republic of China. The joint venture is audited by an overseas practice of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Limited.

FRS 31.56 The following amounts are included in the group’s financial statements as a result of the proportionate
consolidation of JV Electronics Limited:

2013 2012

$'000 $'000
Current assets 53,129 46,382
Non-current assets 41,302 38,577
Current liabilities 17,639 15,278
Non-current liabilities 29,214 24,730
Income 8,329 47,923
Expenses 5,702 46,378

Guidance notes: Other auditors
Where significant joint ventures are audited by another firm of auditors, the names of the other auditors are to be

disclosed accordingly. Guidelines similar to those applicable for associates (see above) may be used to determine if a joint
venture is significant.
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23. Available-for-sale investments

2013

$'000
Quoted equity shares, at fair value 10,407
Quoted debt securities, at fair value 8,303
Unquoted equity shares, at fair value 1,010
Unquoted debt securities, at fair value 512
Total available-for-sale investments 20,232

Group

13,494
8,221
1,000

500

23,215

The investments in unquoted equity shares at fair value include an impairment loss of $1.5 million (2012: $1.5

million).

The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the group the opportunity for

return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of

these securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial year.

The investments in unquoted equity investments represent investments in companies that are engaged in research
and development activities and/or the commercial application of this knowledge. The recoverability of these invest-

ments is uncertain and dependent on the outcome of these activities, which cannot presently be determined.

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values
have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary

to repeat the same information in this note.
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FRS 107.6, 7 24. Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Unquoted equity shares, at fair value 1,018 1,000
FRS 28.1 Unquoted equity investments comprise of venture capital investments in 2 entities (2012: 2) which represent more

than 20% shareholdings in each entities. These investments are excluded from the scope of FRS 28 Investments in
Associates and are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, as they represent an identified portfolio of investments which the group manages
together with an intention of profit taking when the opportunity arises.

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in Singapore dollars, the functional
currency of the entity.

Changes in the fair value of other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amounting to $12,000 (2012:
$25,000) have been included in profit or loss for the year as part of “Other gains and losses”.

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair

values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.

lllustrative Financial Statements 2013 144



Notes to financial statements

FRS 107.6, 7

145

GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

25. Held-to-maturity financial assets

Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost 2,293 2,694

As at December 31, 2013, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $2.3 million (2012:
$2.3 million), with coupon rates ranging from 0.05% to 2.13% (2012: 0.05% to 2.13%) per annum and maturity
dates ranging from September 7, 2015 to July 11, 2017 (2012: September 7, 2015 to July 11, 2017).

There were no disposals or allowance for impairment for held-to-maturity financial assets.

The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in Singapore dollars, the functional currency of the entity.
Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair

values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.
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26. Deferred tax

FRS 12.81(9)() The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and company, and the
FRS 12.81(g)(ii) movements thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods:
Group Convertible
FRS 12.81(a) Accelerated ~ Deferred  Revaluation bond- Retirement
FRS 12.81(ae) tax development of equity benefit Tax
FRS 1.90 depreciation costs building  component obligations Others losses Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At January 1, 2012 3,304 - 1,046 - (2,561) - (295) 1,494
Charge to other
comprehensive
income for the year - - 320 - - - - 320
Charge (credit) to profit
or loss for the year 1712 _ - _(10) _ - _ - 491 544 _667
(Note 45)
At December 31, 2012 5,016 - 1,356 - (2,561) (491) (839) 2,481
Charge directly to equity
for the year - - - 174 - - - 174
Charge to other
comprehensive
income for the year - - 3,692 - - - - 3,692
Charge (credit) to profit
or loss for the year 4,918 552 - (57) 181 (1,854) 593 4,333
(Note 45)
Acquisition of subsidiary 150 - - - - - (351) (201)
Disposal of subsidiary (469) - (66) - 280 - - (255)
Exchange differences 299 - 27 - (13) - (20) 293
Effect of change in tax rate (100 - _@27 - 51 - - (76)
As December 31, 2013 E)Si 5_52 ﬂ ﬂ (2,062) (2,345) (617) 10,441
FRS 12.81(a) Company
FRS 12.81(ae) At January 1, 2012 - - - - @571 @91) - (3,062
FRS 1.90 Charge (credit) to profit
or loss for the year - - - - _10 _- - _10
At December 31, 2012 - - - - (2,561) (491) - (3,052)
Charge directly to equity
for the year - - - 174 - - - 174
Charge (credit) to profit
or loss for the year - - - (57) 486  (1,863) - (1,434)
Effect of change in tax rate _ - - _ - - 13 9 _ - _ 22
As December 31, 2013 —_— —_— —_— ﬂ (2,062)  (2,345) —_— (4,290)
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26. Deferred tax (cont'd)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the group and company’s accounting

policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for statement of financial position
purposes:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred tax liabilities 15,447 5,772 4,407 3,052
Deferred tax assets (5,006) (3,291) _(117) -
10,441 2,481 4,290 3,052

Subject to the agreement by the tax authorities, at the end of the reporting period, the group has unutilised tax
losses of $11.23 million (2012: $16.53 million) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of $3.52 million (2012: $5.24 million) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining $7.71 million (2012: $11.29 million) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of $2.38 million (2012: $3.29 million) that will expire
in 2015. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely subject to the conditions imposed by law including the
retention of majority shareholders as defined.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistrib-
uted earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is $7.9 million (2012:
$6.3 million). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences because the group is in a position

to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Temporary differences arising in connection with interests in associates and jointly controlled entities are
insignificant.
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FRS 12.80(d) Guidance notes — Alternative presentation of deferred tax information
1. Deferred tax balances
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) arise from the following:

FRS 12.81(a),(9),(ab) 2013/2012
FRS 1.90 Charged to
Charged other compr-
Opening Charged to directly  ehensive Acquisitions/ Exchange Changes  Closing

Group/Company balance profit or loss to equity income  disposals differences in tax rate  balance
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Temporary differences

Cash flow hedges XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Equity accounted

investments XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Property, plant &

equipment XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Finance leases XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Intangible assets XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Available-for-sale

financial assets XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Convertible notes XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Exchange difference

on foreign subsidiary  xx XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Provisions XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Doubtful debts XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Other financial liabilities ~ xx XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Unclaimed share issue

and buy-back costs  xx XX XX XX XX XX XX XX
Other [describe] XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX

_XX XX XX _XX XX XX XX _XX

Unused tax losses

and credits

Tax losses XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX

Foreign tax credits XX XX XX XX XX XX XX XX

Other XX _XX _XX XX XX _XX XX XX
XX _XX _XX XX XX _XX XX XX
XX X X X XX X
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Guidance notes — Alternative presentation of deferred tax information (cont’d)

Deferred tax balances are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Deferred tax liabilities XX XX
Directly associated with assets classified as held for sale (Note x) XX XX
o 2
2. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
The following deferred tax assets have not been recognised
at the end of the reporting period:
Tax losses - revenue XX XX
Tax losses - capital XX XX
Unused tax credits (expire [date]) XX XX
Temporary differences XX XX
XX XX

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in 2014.

3. Unrecognised taxable temporary differences associated with investments and interests

2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Taxable temporary differences in relation to investments
in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests
in joint ventures for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised are attributable to the following:
Domestic subsidiaries XX XX
Foreign subsidiaries XX XX
Associates and jointly controlled entities XX XX
Others [describe] XX XX
XX XX
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FRS 107.7 27. Bank overdrafts and loans
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Secured — at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts 1,907 1,909
Bank loans 448,753 525,530
450,660 527,439
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12
months (shown under current liabilities) (94,307) (78,686)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 356,353 448,753

Guidance notes - Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair values
have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is not necessary
to repeat the same information in this note.

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. Overdrafts of $1.1 million (2012: $1.1 million) have been secured by a charge

over the group’s inventories.
The group has two principal bank loans:

a. Aloan of $376.49 million (2012: $463.27 million). The loan was raised on February 1, 2009. Repayments
commenced on January 31, 2012 and will continue until January 2, 2016. The loan is secured by a charge over
certain of the group’s properties. The loan carries interest at 1% plus prime rate.

b. A'loan of $72.27 million (2012: $72.27 million) secured on certain current and non-current assets of the group.
This loan was advanced on July 1, 2012 and is due for repayment on January 3, 2016. The bank loan carries
fixed interest rate at 8% (2012: 8%) per annum.

FRS 7.50 At December 31, 2013, the group had available $200 million (2012: $200 million) of undrawn committed borrowing
facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

Guidance notes
1. Breach of loan agreement
FRS 107.18 If applicable, the following is an illustrative disclosure:

During 2013, the group was late in paying interest for the first quarter on one of its loans with a carrying amount
of Sx million. The delay arose because of a temporary lack of funds on the date interest was payable due to a
technical problem on settlement. The interest payment outstanding of Sy was repaid in full on the following day,
including the additional interest and penalty. The lender did not request accelerated repayment of the loan and
the terms of the loan were not changed. Management has reviewed the group’s settlement procedures to ensure
that such circumstances do not recur.
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28. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade creditors and accruals 172,396 115,265 351 298
Loans from holding
company (Note 5) 15,042 15,008 2,582 4,157
Amounts due to construction
contract customers (Note 9) 3,587 3,904 - -
Financial guarantee contracts 24 18 - -
Other payables due to
holding company (Note 5) 231 139 - -
Other payables due to
related companies (Note 5) 149 78 - -
Other payables due to
subsidiaries (Notes 5 and 20) - - 11 79
Contingent consideration recognised
on the acquisition of Huiji Electronic
Systems (China) Limited
(Note 51.1) 75 - - -
191,504 134,412 M ﬁ
Current 191,429 134,412 3,044 4,534
Non-current 75 - - -
191,504 134,412 M ﬁ

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 3 months (2012: 3 months). No interest is charged on the trade
payables for the first 60 days from the date of invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 2% (2012: 2%) per annum
on the outstanding balance. The group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are within the credit timeframe.

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
Loans from the holding company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The group is a party to a financial guarantee contract where an entity in the group has provided a financial
guarantee to a bank in respect of an entity external to the group. GAAP Singapore Ltd (the company) also provides

a financial guarantee to a bank in respect of loans borrowed by certain subsidiaries. No material adjustment was
required in the separate financial statements of the company to recognise the financial guarantee liability.
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28. Trade and other payables (continued)

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107

If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair
values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.

FRS 103(2009).B67(b) On the acquisition of Huiji Electronic Systems (China) Limited (Note 51), the group recognised a contingent
consideration payable with acquisition date fair values of $75,000. At the end of the reporting period, there have
been no changes to the amounts recognised arising from changes in range of outcomes or valuation techniques
applied.

FRS 103(2009).B67(b) Guidance note — Contingent consideration from business combination
For each reporting period after the acquisition date until the entity collects, sells or otherwise loses the right to
a contingent consideration asset, or until the entity settles a contingent consideration liability or the liability is
cancelled or expires, the acquirer shall disclose the following:
() Any changes in the recognised amounts, including any differences arising upon settlement;
(i) Any changes in the range of outcomes (undiscounted) and the reasons for those changes; and

(i) The valuation techniques and key model inputs used to measure contingent consideration.

Disclosures are made for each material business combination or in the aggregate for individually immaterial
business combinations that are material collectively.
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29. Finance leases

Group
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year 1,655 2,245 1,470 1,483
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,014 1,365 923 1,244
2,669 3,610 2,393 2,727
Less: future finance charges (276) (883) _N/A _N/A
Present value of lease obligations 2,393 2,727 2,393 2,727
Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months (shown under
current liabilities) 1,470 1,483
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 923 1,244

It is the group'’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is
4 years. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the average effective borrowing rate was 8.5% (2012: 8.8%).
Interest rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. All leases are
on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

The group's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.
Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair

values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.
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30. Provisions

Group
Provision for
Warranty rectification
provision work Others Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
At January 1, 2013 1,572 - 493 2,065
Contingent liability recognised on
the acquisition of Huiji Electronic
Systems (China) Limited (Note 51.2) - - 21 21
Unwinding of discount - - - -
Additional provision in the year 946 14,170 58 15,174
Utilisation of provision (298) 8.112) (300) (8,710)
At December 31, 2013 2,220 6,058 ﬂ w
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Analysed as:
Current liabilities 6,432 2,065
Non-current liabilities 2,118 -
8550 2,065

The provision for warranty claims represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the future outflow
of economic benefits that will be required under the group’s 12-month warranty program for electronic products.
The estimate has been made on the basis of historical warranty trends and may vary as a result of new materials,
altered manufacturing processes or other events affecting product quality.

The provision for rectification work relates to the estimated cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectifica-
tion of goods supplied to one of the group’s major customers (Note 47). Anticipated expenditure for 2014 is $3.94
million, and for 2015 is $2.12 million. These amounts have not been discounted for the purpose of measuring the
provision for rectification work, because the effect is not material.

On the acquisition of Huiji Electronic Systems (China) Limited (Note 51), the group recognised an additional
contingent liability in respect of employees’ compensation claims outstanding against that entity. The amount was
settled prior to the end of the reporting period.
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Guidance notes: Disclosure of other types of provisions
Where applicable, the following illustrative notes could be used:

(i) The provision for onerous lease contracts represents the present value of the future lease payments that the
group is presently obligated to make under non-cancellable onerous operating lease contracts, less revenue
expected to be earned on the lease including estimated future sub-lease revenue, where applicable. The
estimate may vary as a result of changes in the utilisation of the leased premises and sub-lease arrangements
where applicable. The unexpired term of the leases range from 3 to 5 years.

(i) The provision for restructuring and termination costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate
of the direct costs of the restructuring that are not associated with the ongoing activities of the group,
including termination benefits. The restructuring is expected to be completed by [date].

(iii) The provision for decommissioning costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the
future outflow of economic benefits that will be required to remove leasehold improvements from leased
property. The estimate has been made on the basis of quotes obtained from external contractors. The
unexpired term of the leases range from 3 to 5 years.
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FRS 107.7 31. Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes were issued on April 1, 2013, and are secured by a personal guarantee of a director.
The notes are convertible into ordinary shares of the company at any time between the date of issue of the notes
and their settlement date at the option of the holder. On issue, the loan notes were convertible at 18 shares per
$10 loan note.

If the notes are not converted, they will be redeemed on April 1, 2015 at par. Interest of 5% will be paid annually
until settlement date.

The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability

element and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into
equity of the group, as follows:

Group and Company

2013

$'000
Nominal value of convertible loan notes issued 25,000
Equity component (net of deferred tax) (821)
Deferred tax liability (174)
Liability component at date of issue 24,005
Interest charged 1,260
Interest paid (938)
Liability component at December 31, 2013 24,327

FRS 107.7 The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 7% to the liability

component for the nine month period since the loan notes were issued.

Guidance notes — Disclosures required by FRS 107
If information about contractual and effective interest rates, maturity dates, foreign currency denomination and fair

values have been presented in Note 4 “Financial Instruments, Financial Risks and Capital Risks Management”, it is
not necessary to repeat the same information in this note.
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GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2013

32. Retirement benefit obligations

The employees of GAAP Singapore Ltd and its subsidiaries that are located in Singapore are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit plan, the Central Provident Board Fund, operated by the Government of Singapore.
The company and the subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

The group operates defined contribution retirement benefit plans for all qualifying employees of its construction
and leasing divisions in the People’s Republic of China and U.S.A. The assets of the plans are held separately
from those of the group in funds under the control of trustees. Where employees leave the plans prior to the
contributions fully vesting, the contributions payable by the group are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of $9.8 million (2012: $7.3 million) represents contributions payable
to these plans by the group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at December 31, 2013, contributions of
$0.7 million (2012: $0.8 million) due in respect of current financial year had not been paid over to the plans. The
amounts were paid subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The group operates a funded defined benefit plan for qualifying employees of its subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China, and previously for the employees of GAAP Playsystems Limited. Under the plan, the employees
are entitled to retirement benefits varying between 40% and 65% of final salary on attainment of a retirement age
of 60. No other post-retirement benefits are provided.

The plan in the People’s Republic of China typically exposes the group to actuarial risks such as: investment risk,
interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.

Investment  The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate deter-

risk mined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan asset is below
this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has a relatively balanced investment in
equity securities, debt instruments and real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan
liabilities, the board of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a reasonable portion of
the plan assets should be invested in equity securities and in real estate to leverage the return
generated by the fund.

Interest risk A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partially
offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best
risk estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An
increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Salary risk The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will
increase the plan’s liability.
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependents of the plan members (widow and orphan benefits) is
re-insured by an external insurance company.

The actuarial valuation of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at
December 31, 2013 by Ms L.H. Poh, Fellow of the Institute of Actuaries (2012: Ms L.H. Poh, Fellow of the Institute
of Actuaries). The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related current service cost and past
service cost, were measured using the projected unit credit method.

FRS 19.144 The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:
Valuation at
2013 2012
Discount rate 7% 7%
Expected return on plan assets 9% 8%
Expected rate of salary increases 5% 5%
Future pension increases 4% 4%

Average longevity (in years) at retirement age for
current pensioners*
Males 27.5 27.3
Females 29.8 29.6
Average longevity (in years) at retirement age for
current employees (future pensioners)*
Males 29.5 29.3
Females 31.0 30.0
Others [describe]

* Based on the People’s Republic of China’s standard mortality table [with modification to reflect expected changes
in mortality. Others (please describe)]

FRS 19.140 The amount recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the group’s defined benefit retirement
benefit plan is as follows:
Group
December 31, January 1,
2013 2012 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000
(restated) (restated)
Present value of funded obligations 159,021 157,302 169,541
Fair value of plan assets (125,093) (118,828) (108,095)
Net liability recognised in the statement
of financial position 33,928 38,474 61,446
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

FRS 1.40A Guidance notes — Presentation of 3™ Statement of Financial Position

Where it is assessed that the retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a material effect on the infor-
mation in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period, a third year statement
of financial position should be presented. For the purposes of these illustrative financial statements, a third year
statement of financial position has not been presented to reflect the effects of the restatement arising from the
revised FRS 19.

FRS 19.120, Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit plans are as follows:
FRS 19.135 Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
(restated)

Service cost

FRS 19.141 Current service cost 17,561 12,297
Past service cost and (gain)/loss from settlements (9,903) (6,306)
Net interest expense 9,021 _7.057
Components of defined benefit costs
recognised in profit or loss 16,679 13,048

Remeasurement on the net defined benefit liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest expense) - -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes
in financial assumptions - -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes
in demographic assumptions - -
Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes
in experience adjustments - -
Others (describe) - -
Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset - -
Components of defined benefit costs
recognised in other comprehensive income - -

Total 16,679 13,048
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

FRS 19.135 The charge for the year is included in the employee benefits expense in profit or loss. [Where analysis of expenses
recognised in profit or loss is by nature]

OR
Of the charge for the year, $12.83 million (2012: $10.04 million) is included in profit or loss in cost of sales and

$3.85 million (2012: $3.01 million) is included in administrative expenses. [Where analysis of expenses recognised
in profit or loss is by function]

FRS 19.141 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
(restated)
Opening defined benefit obligation 157,302 169,541
Current service cost 17,561 12,297
Interest cost 9,021 7,057
Remeasurement (gains)/losses: Actuarial gains and losses
from changes in demographic assumptions - -
from changes in financial assumptions - -
from experience adjustments - -
Others (describe) - -
Past service cost, including losses/(gains) on curtailments (10,173) (6,036)
Obligation transferred on disposal of subsidiary (4,932) -
Liabilities assumed in a business combination 2,436 -
Exchange differences on foreign plans - -
Benefits paid (12,194) (25,557)
Closing defined benefit obligation 159,021 157,302
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000
Opening fair value of plan assets 118,828 108,095
FRS 19.141 Interest income 10,443 9,503
Remeasurement gain (loss): 300 995
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts
included in net interest expense) - -
Others (describe) - -
Contributions by employer 5,278 14,440
Contributions by plan participants 2,000 12,266
Exchange difference 438 (914)
Benefits paid (12,194) (25,557)
Closing fair value of plan assets 125,093 118,828
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

FRS 19.142 The fair value of plan assets at the end of the reporting period is analysed as follows:
Group
2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Equity instruments (categorised by industry type)

- consumer industry 1,182 2,629
- energy and utilities 2,000 2,000
Subtotal 3,182 4,629
Debt instruments (categorised by issuer’s rating)

- AAA 24,096 28,735
- AA 10,000 10,000
Subtotal 34,096 38,735
Property (as categorised by nature and location)

- retail shops in Shanghai 20,000 15,000
- residential properties in Beijing 9,717 3,226
Subtotal 29,717 18,226
Derivatives:

- Interest rate swaps 40,000 40,000
- Forward foreign exchange contracts 18,098 17,238
Subtotal 58,098 57,238
Total 125,093 118,828

FRS 19.142 The fair values of the above equity and debt instruments are determined based on quoted market prices in active

markets whereas the fair values of properties and derivatives are not based on quoted market prices in active
markets. It is the policy of the fund to use interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. This policy
has been implemented during the current and prior years. Foreign currency exposures are fully hedged by the use
of the forward foreign exchange contracts.

The actual return on plan assets was $10.32 million (2012: $9.7 million).

FRS 19.143 The plan assets do not include any of the group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by, or
other assets used by, the group.
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

FRS 19.145(@a) Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined obligation are discount rate, expected salary
increase and mortality. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes
of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all other assumptions
constant.

If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation would decrease by
$744,000 (increase by $740,000).

« If the expected salary growth increases (decreases) by 1%, the defined benefit obligation would increase by
$120,000 (decrease by $122,000).

If the life expectancy increases (decreases) by one year for both men and women, the defined benefit obligation
would increase by $150,000 (decrease by $156,000).

FRS 19.145(b) The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the defined benefit obligation has

been calculated using the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as
that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation liability recognised in the statement of financial position.

FRS 19.145(c) There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

Guidance note:

In accordance with FRS 19 (revised).173(b), for financial statements with accounting periods that begin before
January 1, 2014, entities need not present comparative information for the disclosures required by FRS 19.145 (i.e.
the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation).
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32. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

Each year an Asset-Liability-Matching study is performed in which the consequences of the strategic investment
policies are analysed in terms of risk-and-return profiles. Investment and contribution policies are integrated within
this study. Main strategic choices that are formulated in the actuarial and technical policy document of the Fund
are:

+ Asset mix based on 25% equity instruments, 50% debt instruments and 25% investment property.

« Interest rate sensitivity caused by the duration of the defined benefit obligation should be reduced by 30% by
the use of debt instruments in combination with interest rate swaps.

- Maintaining an equity buffer that gives a 97.5% assurance that assets are sufficient within the next 12 months.

There has been no change in the process used by the group to manage its risks from prior periods.

The group's subsidiaries fund the cost of the entitlements expected to be earned on a yearly basis. Employees pay
a fixed 5% percentage of pensionable salary. The residual contribution (including back service payments) is paid

by the entities of the group. The funding requirements are based on the local actuarial measurement framework.
In this framework the discount rate is set on a risk free rate. Furthermore, premiums are determined on a current
salary base. Additional liabilities stemming from past service due to salary increases (back-service liabilities) are paid
immediately to the Fund. Apart from paying the costs of the entitlements, the group’s subsidiaries are not liable
to pay additional contributions in case the Fund does not hold sufficient assets. In that case, the Fund would take
other measures to restore its solvency, such as a reduction of the entitlements of the plan members.

The average duration of the benefit obligation at December 31, 2013 is 16.5 years (2012: 15.6 years). This number
can be analysed as follows:

+ Active members: 19.4 years (2012: 18.4 years);
« Deferred members: 22.6 years (2012: 21.5 years); and
+ Retired members: 9.3 years (2012: 8.5 years).

The group expects to contribute approximately $16 million (2012: $18 million) to its defined benefit plan in the
subsequent financial year.
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